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Monday, December 7, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today is the first day in the hearing of application EB-2009-0096 submitted by Hydro One Networks Inc. for an order or orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates for the distribution of electricity.  Hydro One has requested these rates be implemented on January 1st, 2010 and January 1st, 2011.  The parties to this proceeding have defined an issues list, which the Board has accepted.

I am Pamela Nowina, and I will be presiding on this hearing.  Joining me on the Panel are Board Members Mr. Paul Sommerville and Ms. Cynthia Chaplin.

A couple of remarks about schedule.  We started this morning at 9:30, but Mr. Sommerville and Ms. Chaplin and I are morning people, so we will -- the remainder of the proceeding will begin at 9 o'clock.  So please mark your calendars and make sure we are all here.  We will try to complete at around 4:00, and we will normally break for a one-hour lunch at around noon.

Today may or may not be like that, depending, because we started later.

The Board will not sit on Wednesdays.

Just a comment.  Hydro One has requested that certain information be handled on a confidential basis.  The Board will hear submissions on that question tomorrow morning.

May I have appearances, please?
Appearances:

MR. ROGERS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Donald Rogers and I am counsel to the applicant.

Sitting with me at the counsel table is Mr. Greg Mr. Van Dusen, who is the director of distribution applications for the utility; also, Mr. Henry Andre, who is the senior regulatory advisor with the company.  Assisting me as co-counsel is my associate Ms. Anita Varjacic, who is also here today.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. POCH:  Good morning, Panel.  David Poch for Green Energy Coalition.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

MR. LONG:  Richard Long for the Society of Energy Professionals.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Long.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye for Energy Probe, and with me is David MacIntosh, also with Energy Probe.

MR. CROCKER:  David Crocker for AMPCO, and Shelley Grice is at the table with me.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Mr. Buonaguro for VECC, and I would also like to put in an appearance for John DeVellis on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.  He is not feeling well right now.  He is hoping to be here this afternoon, but...

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will mark it.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel Members.  Ian Mondrow here today for the Electrical Contractors Association of Ontario, or ECAO, as well as Rogers Cable Communications, which I will refer to as Rogers.

With the Panel's leave, two chairs to my left will be Richard Stephenson, who wished me to put in an appearance for him on behalf of the Power Workers' Union.  Mr. Stephenson had to step out, but anticipates being back shortly, probably around 10:00 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Board Staff?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, good morning, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined together by Mr. Harold Thiessen and Mr. Rudra Mukherji with Board Staff.  Also acting as counsel in this matter will be Ms. Jennifer Lea, although she is not in the room right now.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Madam Chair, there are a few.

First of all, as my custom, I would like to ask the Board's permission to speak to the witnesses during the course of the hearing, although they are under cross-examination.  The Rules of Professional Conduct prohibit this in a normal court case, but in administrative cases like this it is routine to permit counsel that indulgence.  I undertake not to abuse the privilege.

MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone have any objections to Mr. Rogers' request?  So granted, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

There is another matter.  First, there is an issue about scheduling witnesses, specifically the witness for Schools, but I don't think we need to deal with that right now.  I think we can probably work that out among us by ourselves, and we can advise the Board this afternoon if there is any further assistance we need there.

I think my friend, Mr. Thompson, though, would like to speak to a matter of concern to the company.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.

There are actually two preliminary matters that I would like to speak to this morning.  They both relate to confidential information that has been filed as Exhibit H-13-1, and I think you should have that document in front of you to understand these remarks.

This is Hydro One's response to CME's interrogatory that presentations to the board of directors be produced in confidence.

I will speak to these matters in the chronological order in which they came up.  So the first one came up on or about November the 11th, and the subject matter of that is at page -- the third page of attachment 2 of Exhibit H-13-1.  So you have to go to attachment 2, which is sort of towards the end, and you will find a seven-page document which was a June 18, 2009 submission to Hydro One.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, we're referring to confidential information.  So had you any intention of talking about the contents of that information at this point?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I just wanted to draw your attention to the paragraph, without putting anything on the record that would be troublesome to Hydro One.  At least I hope I don't.

MS. NOWINA:  It might be a little bit difficult for us to find.  We have the document in front of us, but it's not an easy document to find your way through.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, if -- there are four attachments to it.  About two-thirds of the way through, you will see an attachment.  It is labelled at the top right-hand corner "Attachment 2", and it is seven pages.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We have it, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  If you go to the third page of that, under the heading "Recommendation", you will see in the last sentence some material that's to be brought forward to the Hydro One board of directors in November 2009.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you see that sentence?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, we see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  So on November 11th, I had written to Ms. Frank and asked that these documents be produced in confidence when they became available.

Ms. Frank -- I had written only to Ms. Frank, because I didn't know who else, if anyone, at that time had signed the confidentiality undertaking.

The oral response that Ms. Frank communicated to me by telephone was to the effect that there was no provision in the procedural order for supplemental interrogatories, but if I raised the matter at the outset of the hearing, the documents presented to the Hydro One board would be produced to people that had signed the confidential undertaking.

So that is why I am raising that item for the record.  That flows from the conversation that I had with Ms. Frank back in November.

My position is that those documents should be produced to people who have signed the confidentiality undertaking.  Now, whether they get produced to me is another matter that relates to the second point, a preliminary point that I wanted to speak to, and Mr. Rogers has been kind enough to let me speak to this first.


This matter arose on Friday, last Friday, and it relates, again, to this same confidentiality undertaking, and the portion of it that relates to is found in the -- on the fifth page of the document.  Again, I will just draw your attention to it so you will know the sentence that has troubled Hydro One.  Well, you will know the information that is of concern to Hydro One, because I disclosed this information, which I will tell you about in a moment.

But at page 5 of this document, in the second full paragraph, you will see a sentence that is talking about a cost-of-service transmission rate application being filed.  I hope the Board Members see that.

And there are percentages mentioned in that sentence, rate increase percentages and bill impact percentages.  And there are four numbers there.  And I mistakenly disclosed these numbers during the course of a presentation that I made to CME energy committee on Wednesday of this week.  It was in the course of a PowerPoint presentation dealing with a regulatory update.  I have provided Mr. Rogers with a copy.  And I think to put this in context, you people should see this, and I will just hand it up to you, if I might.

MS. NOWINA:  Does this contain the confidential information again, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  This is not confidential.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is what I presented to CME, the PowerPoint.  Sorry.

MS. NOWINA:  Just to be clear, but if the PowerPoint was at issue regarding -- the PowerPoint itself did not contain the confidential information?  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, would you like an exhibit number for that?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, let's do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.1; and that is a CME PowerPoint presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CME PowerPoint presentation.

MR. THOMPSON:  So this -- I should back up and say Mr. DeRose and I make these regulatory update presentations to CME periodically, and so this is -- was not something new for us.  This is, I think, about our third or fourth appearance there, and I should also say it is well-known to me that the utilities are members of CME, and in previous presentations that we have made there, Hydro One has been physically in attendance, as have been OPG, Union and Enbridge.

So I am aware of their interest in this presentation we make, and I try and keep it reasonably balanced.  It is sometimes difficult for an old warhorse like me, but that is what we attempt to do.

And so you will see this presentation covers a broad range of topics.  At page 2 we break them down between electricity hearings, electricity consultatives, gas hearing, gas consultatives and other regulatory matters.  Then the following pages deal with each of those categories of proceedings before this Board.

With respect to Hydro One, you will see at page 3, we had the distribution case noted.  Then at page 4, we had transmission.  OPG at pages 5 and following, and I won't take you through it all, but it was a broad-ranging presentation.

I made the oral presentation of these slides, and for the purposes of preparing for that I had prepared some handwritten notes on my copy of this document, which included some of the increases that were historical increases for Hydro One distribution, but were on the record.  And I also had those numbers that I mentioned from the confidential material; I had them in my handwritten notes opposite "Hydro One transmission" on page 4, at the bottom of the page.

When I prepared those notes, I did in fact recognize that I had taken them from confidential information, but when I made the oral presentation I actually mentioned those percentage increase numbers when I shouldn't have, because that application has not yet been filed publicly.  And so those are the numbers I mentioned.

Hydro One, I think, was listening in.  I didn't -- I wasn't advised who was listening in, but I assume Hydro One was listening in.  They were not there physically.

Union representatives -- a representative from Union was physically present.  A representative from Enbridge was physically present.  I don't think anyone was there at the meeting from OPG, but they may have been listening in as --as well.

So that happened on Wednesday.  Mr. Rogers called me on Friday, kind enough to bring this to my attention, and he indicated that Hydro One was very exercised about the disclosure of this information.  He asked me if I disclosed it, and I thought for a moment.  Then I realized, yes, I had, and I acknowledged that to him.

I said I would apologize on the record for that transgression on my part, and I sincerely apologize to Hydro One for not keeping that information in confidence, which I -- which I should have.

I immediately phoned my client to tell him of Mr. Rogers' call and to make sure those numbers weren't circulated in any minutes prepared by CME of that meeting.  And that's -- there had been no minutes circulated, so that's been stopped.

My client did tell me that the numbers did not surprise him, because he had heard them from Hydro One at a Hydro One advisory committee meeting previously.  That, again, doesn't excuse my error, because my understanding is those Hydro One advisory committee meetings are also confidential.  And my only point is that whoever was at that meeting didn't hear it from -- didn't hear those numbers from me first.

So that is -- that is the second preliminary matter.  I, again, apologize.  I should not have mentioned those percentages.

Now, Mr. Rogers indicated to me on Friday that Hydro One did not regard an apology on the record as a sufficient sanction, and that Hydro One thought that it would be appropriate for the Board to rule that no further confidential information be disclosed to me for that transgression.  I suggested to Mr. Rogers I thought that was a bit strong, but that's the Hydro One position.

Those numbers were mentioned in the course of, I would say, about a 45-minute oral presentation and they were -- they took up about a few seconds.  I don't recall there being any discussion about them.

So I apologize.

Even if you preclude me from seeing the information that I ask be produced, I suggest it should be produced to everyone else who signed the confidentiality undertaking and should be produced to the Board, because, in my submission, I think it is very important that this Board have before it the information that has been placed before the Hydro One directors with respect to this distribution application and the pending transmission case.

So that is, I think, all I have to say about the second point.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Rogers, do you want to give us your comments?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

First, let me say that my client accepts that this disclosure of confidential information was done totally inadvertently and accidentally, without any intent.  And we do accept -- I think that they do accept Mr. Thompson's apology.  He has been quite forthright about the matter from the time that I brought it to his attention.

But this is not a personal issue, and I hope my comments are not taken to be personally directed towards my friend.

These confidential filings are a matter of great concern to the utilities that appear before you, as you know.  They can understand why it is important information for you to have, but they're extremely concerned about having this confidential information made public.  The reasons for that, we have explained in previous cases, has -- having to do securities regulations and their obligations and their obligations to make full disclosure to the general public and not to a select few.

My client, as a result of this disclosure, is now seeking external advice from its securities advisors as to what, if any, steps it needs to take now that this has happened.

The disclosure of this information, though, involves more than my client.  I mean, this is the Board's process, which accidentally, I acknowledge, has been violated, and it is not for me -- I am not going to be so presumptuous to tell you what to do to enforce your own rules.

I do submit to you that these confidential rules are very important to applicants and utilities and other people, too, who are required to file this information, and it shakes the confidence of these organizations if a disclosure, however accidental it may be is -- goes without sanction.

My suggestion to you is this.  Recognizing that it is your rules that have been violated -- and I don't mean to be presumptuous, but a suggestion might be this, that Mr. Thompson not -- first of all, return all confidential documents in his possession forthwith and that he not be permitted to participate in any confidential matters for the balance of this hearing.

Some may say that Mr. Thompson should withdraw from the case, in this case, but my client recognizes that would be probably unfair to his client, who would be left without counsel, very senior counsel, at the opening of the hearing, and so I don't propose that.

But I do suggest for your consideration that a sanction be imposed and that that sanction should be that Mr. Thompson return the confidential information in his possession now, and that he not be permitted to participate in any confidential matters before this Board in this hearing for the balance of the hearing.

In closing, I just want to say that I regret being in this position and it is not a personal matter with me, with my friend Mr. Thompson, or my client.  We understand it was accidental, but it is serious.

Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. NOWINA:  This is a sober way to begin the proceeding, and the first thing I would like to say is that I am concerned and feel for both Hydro One and Mr. Thompson.  I believe it was inadvertent, but nevertheless it is serious, and it being inadvertent doesn't undo any damage that might be done.

So -- and I should, for the record, for everyone, emphasize that it is essential that the Board's proceedings on processes on confidentiality be strictly adhered to.  There cannot be any exceptions.  If there begins to be exceptions to that, we will have to reconsider those guidelines and perhaps change them.

I am not suggesting we do that at this point, because I do think it was an inadvertent one-off kind of circumstance.

However, I agree with Mr. Rogers that it can't go without consequences.  So, therefore, the Board does accept, Mr. Rogers, your suggestion.  Mr. Thompson, we do ask that you return the confidential material, and if we should determine tomorrow, that the material is confidential and that we will have in camera sessions, that you not attend the in camera sessions.

MR. THOMPSON:  May I speak to that?

MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  When Mr. Rogers spoke to me on Friday, he indicated that the requested sanction was that no further confidentiality information be presented to me.

So this request that he made here this morning is news to me.  I have prepared this case on the basis of being able to examine on information I already had, and it is relevant to the cross-examination of panel 1.  I am just concerned for my client here - this is my mistake, not the client's mistake - and how I can meaningfully examine panel 1 if I can't refer to these documents.

So that is my conundrum.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, help me understand.  How could you examine an in camera panel on confidential information and not be likely to hear further confidential information?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I don't think I could.  But, as I say, the sanction was -- I guess I misunderstood the sanction they were seeking.  I thought we could examine on material we had already received.  If we were to be barred from hearing any confidential information, I guess I have to speak to the client to see how I can assist them with this problem.  I am sort of thinking out loud here, quite frankly.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand, Mr. Thompson.

MR. WARREN:  I wonder if I could ask a question in aid of this.  Is the scope of this sanction such that we're now under -- all of us under a cone of silence with respect to Mr. Thompson?  For example, can I not speak to him about the confidential information?  Because in the ordinary course, in discussing this with other counsel, particularly Mr. Thompson, with whom I communicate regularly, we might very well talk about certain issues that might involve the question of confidential information.

He might, for example, in his capacity as being vastly senior to me, say, you know, I think this is an effective line of cross-examination.  Why don't you pursue it?

Are we now precluded from having any conversation with Mr. Thompson with respect to this confidential information?

MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps what we can do is leave the matter for the moment and ask, Mr. Rogers, Mr. Warren, Mr. Thompson, to discuss that proposal, Mr. Warren, and any other recommendations that you might have for us before we finally close the matter.

Just to be clear, Mr. Rogers, the request was regarding Mr. Thompson personally and not other counsel for CME should there be other counsel.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  Now, in fairness, when Mr. Thompson and I did speak Friday, I think my client's position has evolved a little bit since we spoke, and so sorry, if I have taken him by surprise with respect to the enlarged sanction.

I think he is correct.  I think when he and I spoke, it was just me speaking to him trying to see what might be appropriate.  I did suggest what he said I suggested, but my client feels it should be a stronger sanction, and that is what I have set out for you this morning.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, let me say that I think Mr. Warren may be offering us a bit of a solution here --

MR. ROGERS:  He may.

MS. NOWINA:  -- that I would ask you to consider.

MR. ROGERS:  We will explore that.

MS. NOWINA:  And come back to me perhaps after the lunch break on it.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

With that, Mr. Rogers, are you ready to introduce your first witness panel?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I am.  Thank you very much.

I am ready to call my first panel of Mr. Mark Graham, David Curtis, and Mr. Ron Salt.  Could they be sworn, please?
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC - PANEL 1, GREEN ENERGY PLAN


Mark Graham, Sworn


David Curtis, Sworn


Ron Salt, Sworn

MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead, Mr. Rogers.  
Examination by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  Let me start with the left.

Mr. Curtis, I understand, sir, that you hold a bachelor of science degree in physics McMaster University?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And a master's degree in nuclear physics from the State University of New York?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  In addition you have a master's of business administration from McMaster University?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is found at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1.  Is it an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  And I see from your CV that you began working with the old Ontario Hydro back in 1978 or so.

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have progressed through a number of different areas of responsibility and now hold the position of director, asset management processes and policies with the company.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you tell us, Mr. Curtis, what area of -- what areas of the evidence will you be dealing with this morning?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  I will be dealing with the areas of the operation, maintenance and administration costs, the conservation demand management area, as well as the smart grid area.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

And I might say, Madam Chair, that the -- the topics for panel 1 can be found summarized at Exhibit A, tab 20, schedule 1, page 1, and that this panel is dealing with the Green Energy Plan, which I suspect you will hear a fair bit about this morning.

Mr. Graham.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is found at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Is it an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  I see, sir, that you hold a bachelor of mathematics from the University of Waterloo.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

SPEAKER 2:  And that you have worked in the electricity industry for many years, beginning, I think, with Ontario Hydro back in about 1981 or so?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's right.

MR. ROGERS:  And you, as well as Mr. Curtis, have progressed through various areas of responsibility within the company over the intervening years?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You are now, I understand, the director of partnerships and external relations, major projects coordination and external relations for the company.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's right.

MR. ROGERS:  It's a grand title.

MR. GRAHAM:  There you go.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be responding to this morning?

MR. GRAHAM:  I am here to speak to the policy, legislation and regulatory aspects of the Green Energy Plan.

MR. ROGERS:  So you're -– you will be dealing with most of the Green Energy issues, will you?  Many --

MR. GRAHAM:  I hope not too many.

MR. ROGERS:  -- of them?

Mr. Salt, is your curriculum vitae filed at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, an accurate reflection of your qualifications?

MR. SALT:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand that you are an engineer.

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And that you have worked with Ontario Hydro and now the successor company since about 1979 or so?

MR. SALT:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You began as a distribution line supervisor, I see.

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have held a number of different managerial positions in the intervening years and are now manager of distribution development for the company.

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be responding to this morning?

MR. SALT:  I will be talking about the description of the capital work, the capital plan numbers and the -- how we allocated some of those costs between the different categories.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Mr. Salt, have you ever testified before this Board before?

MR. SALT:  No.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, I had an opening statement this morning, but I do have a very brief opening examination of this panel, which I hope will assist the Board.

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  If I might.  Mr. Graham, before we begin, as coordinator for this panel, can you confirm that the evidence to be addressed by this panel, as listed in the exhibit we have discussed, is, so far as you are aware, an –- an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  I have a couple of questions for you, Mr. Graham, which I hope will help to focus our attention.

First of all, what does Hydro One want this Board to approve through the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, Hydro One is applying to the Board for approval of its Green Energy Plan as filed in the associated revenue requirements and rates.  The plan sets out the costs for enabling and connecting new renewable generation, developing a smart grid, and energy conservation.

Although Hydro One has provided information on energy conservation, it is our assumption that these programs will be paid for by the global adjustment mechanism, and thus there will be no impact on distribution rates applied for in this submission.

Further, the final targets for those programs are still under consideration, as the Board knows, and thus Hydro One has simply included expenditures at currently budgeted levels.

MR. ROGERS:  And yes -- you are dealing with the energy conservation component of the plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Continue, please.

MR. GRAHAM:  With respect to enabling and connecting new renewable generation, Hydro One has identified 6 million in OM&A costs, as well as capital spend of $215 million for expansions and $210 million for renewable enabling investments over the 2010 and 2011 test period in total over the two years.

Hydro One is also requesting 20 million in OM&A and 92 million in capital spend over the 2010 and 2011 test year period for work required to support the development of a smart grid.

MR. ROGERS:  Just slow down a little bit, if you can.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry.  I can.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Graham, this is new to some of us.  Carry on.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  Smart grid represents a change in the way we will operate the distribution system to facilitate the centralized generation and two-way power flows, expand capabilities to provide demand response and load control, as well as accommodate the use of innovative and energy-saving technologies.  Work on these new systems and processes are required not only to meet the government's Green Energy Act objectives, but also to ensure power quality and safe operations are maintained for our distribution customers.

In total, Hydro One is asking for approval of $26 million in OM&A and $516 million in capital for these programs over the two-year test period.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Tell me, why should this Board accept that this plan meets the deemed conditions of licence, distribution system planning that it issued on June 16th, 2009?  And in particular, that this plan should be approved for the purposes of establishing Hydro One distribution's rates for 2010 and 2011?

MR. GRAHAM:  Hydro One believes that the work proposed in this Green Energy Plan is essential to enable the government's Green Energy and Green Economy Act objectives of promoting the use and generation of electricity from renewable energy sources.

We have substantial experience in assessing the needs, as well as estimating and executing the work to connect new generators to our distribution system.  In particular, that experience relates -- derives from Hydro One's work related to the Renewable Energy Standard Offer Program -- which we will refer to as RESOP -- which is outlined in the Green Energy Plan.

The prices now available under the Feed-in Tariff program -- commonly referred to as FIT -- are higher than under the RESOP program, and along with other improvements in that program, this leads to Hydro One's expectation that interest in new renewable will be even higher under the FIT, as compared to RESOP.

MR. ROGERS:  Under the FIT, F-I-T?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Right.  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Hydro One has worked closely with the Ontario Power Authority to understand the requirements of the FIT program, and their expectations regarding the volume and location of new generation.  Hydro One has considered this information in establishing its Green Energy Plan.

The RESOP program provided Hydro One with a lot of information regarding the areas of the province that are most promising for new renewable generation, and we have assessed our distribution system across the province to identify the work that needs to be done to both enable and connect this new generation.

Hydro One has also considered the effect of the transmission transfer limits put in place by the OPA on the megawatts to be contracted under FIT.

Further, as a transmitter, Hydro One has many years of experience in the facilities needed to provide for the distribution system to become effectively a low-voltage transmission system.  This understanding is built into the renewable enabling improvements which Hydro One has planned.

With respect to the smart grid, Hydro One understands the impact on our existing systems, as well as the requirement for new systems and processes that this initiative will drive.

Hydro One is taking a prudent, staged approach to this work, with activities in the test-year period focussed on required changes to operating systems and business processes, and testing and piloting new technologies in the field to ensure safe and reliable operations for all customers.  Based on our experience with developing and implementing similar types of projects, we are able to reasonably forecast the work required over the 2010 and 2011 period.

For these reasons, Hydro One submits that its Green Energy Plan fulfills the Board's requirements and should be approved to allow for recovery of costs from ratepayers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Graham.

That concludes my examination, Madam Chair, and the panel is available for cross-examination.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Have the intervenors worked out an order of cross-examination?  Mr. Warren, I see your finger on the button.

MR. WARREN:  I haven't the foggiest idea whether they have, but I am going to be selfish and ask if I can go first.

MS. NOWINA:  I don't see anybody trying to beat you to it.  So go ahead, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  With apologies, Madam Chair, I want to return to the question of confidentiality.  I have a number of questions throughout the course of my planned cross-examination which deal with the confidential information that was elicited by my client's cross -- interrogatories.

I have indicated to Mr. Rogers that I do not intend to deal with numbers on the record, or with any forecasts of numbers.

And I have asked if that can be done on the record, because to try and go from in camera to on the record would make it more of a dog's breakfast than it already is.

So I am wondering if I could proceed in that fashion.  And Mr. Rogers, with his usual vigilance, will interrupt me if I have transgressed.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, before you comment, let me say that the more that we can get on the public record, the better, and so any attempt to do this is appreciated.

MR. ROGERS:  I agree.  My client agrees, understands that concern of the Board.  We had understood the confidential issues were to be dealt with tomorrow morning.  My friend is a very experienced counsel. I think if he is careful, we can proceed in this way without getting in these confidential numbers.  It is usually the numbers that are really the primary concern.

So let's -- may I suggest we proceed, and I will try to be vigilant and step in if I think he is going too far?

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I assume you also will be vigilant, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  I will do my best, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I would like to begin with questions about the planning process that underlies the Green Energy Plan that is before the Board, and if I could begin with one of the confidential exhibits that was a response to my client's interrogatory?  It is Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 44.

Members of the panel --

MR. GRAHAM:  Excuse me, Mr. Warren.  Just a second.

MR. WARREN:  I just want to indicate to the panel this confidential information really is in -- clustered in two groups. One is a series of information that was presented to committees of the Hydro One board in April and June of 2009.

I am going to divide them -- my cross-examination according to the April materials and the June materials.  I would like to begin, if I can, panel, with the April materials.  There are two components of it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, to interrupt.  Could you give the citation for the exhibit that you will be referring to?

MR. WARREN:  Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 44, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, as I have indicated, there are two components to this response, at least two for time purposes.  One is materials that were presented to the regulatory and environment committee of the board of directors in April of 2009, and if you could turn those up first, please?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I've got them.

MR. WARREN:  Would it be fair for me, at a high level of generality, to summarize the presentation that Ms. Frank made to this committee of the board of directors as a kind of overview of some of the possible implications of the Green Energy Act on Hydro One?  Is that a fair summary of it?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think I could accept that.

MR. WARREN:  And will you agree with me there were not contained, within these materials, any specific proposals with respect to investments or costs or details of what the Green Energy Plan would ultimately consist of; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe so.

MR. WARREN:  Will you take that subject to check?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, between then and the second tranche of the confidential materials in Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 44, there is a June presentation.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And the June presentation consists of, again, a -- this is a presentation, as I understand it, to the -- is it to the board of directors or just to this subcommittee of the board of directors?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe the memo that was filed is to the regular environment committee -- the regulatory environment committee, and the presentation itself is to the full board.

MR. WARREN:  Can you agree with me that one of the differences between the June materials and the April materials is that the June materials are very detailed and contain specific proposals for the implementation of the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  The June presentation is the business plan for Hydro One and, of course, along with the other investments that the company needs to make, it would include -- sorry.  Actually, I am looking at two different interrogatories.

I think that is fair.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if you've got the June presentation before you, there is a document called "Facilitating Implementation of Green Energy Projects, Major Green Transmission Line Projects, June 17th, 2009."

Do you have that slide presentation in front of you?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I go to -- if the Board goes to pages 2, 3 and 4 -- first of all, on pages 2 and 3, there are two slides, one dealing with connecting renewable generation in the north, and there are what I take to be transmission lines.  And there are numbers with respect to the megawatts involved, and there's a cost.  Is that a cost of construction?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And then in the next slide, we have connecting renewable generation in the south, and that, again, has transmission lines, costs and megawatts; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And then on the third page we have enabler lines for renewable generation.  Again, we have a list of what I take to be transmission lines with dollar figures attached to them and megawatts; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I will leave it to another discussion to determine whether or not those particular numbers are confidential.

But what I want to stay with for a moment, would I be correct in understanding that between April, when Ms. Frank made her presentation or overview of the Green Energy Plan or Green Energy Act, and June, that these are all new proposals that were developed in that time frame for the Green Energy Plan, or, in the alternative, were they existing proposals that were now labelled under the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Warren, what I would say is that these proposals may have had their initiation prior to the April submission.  We would be -- have been thinking about some of these things as the government talked about introducing the Green Energy Act, but they would have been brought to conclusion, in terms of the submissions that are here, for the June presentation.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, of the lines that are referred to on -- transmission lines referred to on pages 2, 3 and 4 of that exhibit, how many of them are a specific response to the Green Energy Plan and how many of them were in the plan process before the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, I would suggest that all of the lines that are here are responsive to the green energy requirements.

We may have had previous plans in some of these regards looking at enabling new generation in the north, again.  The north-south line, for example, is something Hydro One has talked about, and Ontario Hydro has in fact talked about in the past.  But the need for them has become more evident with the Green Energy Initiatives.

MR. WARREN:  Now, can you tell me, just stepping forward -- I, again, want to take you to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.  This is the updated Green Energy Plan that was filed on September 25th, 2009.

MR. GRAHAM:  I've got it.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize.  Let me step back.

The June materials dealing with the Green Energy Plan, do they go to the Hydro One board of directors and were they approved by the Hydro One board of directors?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think I may have to ask.  My understanding is the material that you asked for in H-9-44 was probably to the regulatory and environment committee.

There is another interrogatory asked for by CME which provides the actual submission to the board of directors.

MR. WARREN:  That will have to be dealt with in a different context, I am afraid.

I then take you to the updated Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.  This is the updated Green Energy Plan.

Now, can you tell me what changed substantively with respect to the Green Energy Plan between what was presented in June and the updated Green Energy Plan that was filed on September 25th of 2009?  Were there substantive changes to the plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Basically, my understanding is that we updated the plan to reflect the latest guidance from this Board with respect to the allocation of costs under the Distribution System Code.  We would also have looked further at the allocations to all customers province-wide versus Hydro One Distribution customers.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I can, sir, the materials that we were looking at on the June presentation, the transmission lines --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, let me turn it up again.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize for jumping back on you.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, I've got it.

MR. WARREN:  Those are transmission lines; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And what is the relationship, if any, to the costs, the numbers, there in those transmission lines and the distribution application that is now before the Board?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, philosophically, these lines would enable new generation to be connected, some of which might be connected to distribution systems, so they would in many cases alleviate the transmission constraints that are put forward by the OPA in terms of transfer capability; thus, bringing the capacity up in various areas of the province for additional connections to either the distribution or transmission systems.

Most of these lines are a number of years in the making, so in terms of this filing, they would have impact only on the later years, if any.

MR. WARREN:  But are any of the numbers here for the transmission lines reflected in the distribution rate proposal that you have before the Board now?

MR. GRAHAM:  None of the costs would be.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can I then turn to the question of the costs of the Green Energy Plan?

 And in that context, if you could turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, and this is the September update.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I believe we have it.

MR. WARREN:  Does the Panel have it?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What was the citation again?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  I apologize.  Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  As an alert to our technical people, we are handicapped because our -- our instant feedback on transcription is not coming through.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is not feeding back.

MS. NOWINA:  Which is why we keep asking you the references.

MR. WARREN:  The material that I have asked you to turn up, if you look at page 2 of 24, is a summary of net development capital.

As I understand it - and correct me if I am wrong – that there is -- that most of the net development capital is related to the Green Energy Plan; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that it is unfair to say "most".  It certainly is a substantive part of it.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in terms of the overall -- let's look at net development capital.

If I look at this exhibit, I see that in 2010 the total under the category of net development capital for which you are seeking recovering rates is 205 million, and in 2011 it is 252.4 million; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  But that is not all of what Hydro One proposes to expend in this category; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  The very term "net" implies that.  It does not include costs we're looking for recovery from other groups of customers or from generators.

MR. WARREN:  So if I look, then, to the third asterisk under that, I see that the total development capital would be the sum of two other things, which is the amount to be funded by generators and the amount to be funded from what you call external sources; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And going from the net development capital, if we take a look at distribution capital as a whole -- and in this connection you might turn up D1, tab 3, schedule 1.

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren.  I don't have that.  Just give me a second to grab it.

MR. WARREN:  Yeah.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, I've got it.

MR. WARREN:  Now, that's got -- that's the summary of the net distribution capital.  Again, you're seeking approval to recover in rates in 2010 564.4 million, and in 2011 576.9; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what it shows.

MR. WARREN:  Now, that, again, is not the total amount which Hydro One Networks proposes to spend in capital in those two years, is it?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's -- you are correct in saying that.

MR. WARREN:  And would you disagree with me if I said that the total amounts that you propose to spend in capital in 2010 is in excess of 700 million?  And in 2011 it is 839, roughly, million dollars.  Will you take that, subject to check?

MR. GRAHAM:  I will, and I can generally indicate that if my arithmetic is correct, that looks appropriate to me.

MR. WARREN:  Now, would you agree with me, then, that there is a --

MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson (sic), can you give me the two numbers again?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  For 2010 the total development, according to our calculations -– sorry, the total capital expenditure is 716.3 million, and in 2011 is 839.6 million.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Can we agree, panel, that there is therefore a disconnect, if you wish, between the amount, total amount you would propose to spend and the amount which you are seeking approval for from the Board to recover in rates?  They're not the same numbers?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I wouldn't call that a disconnect.  I think we lay out in the Green Energy Plan the additional costs that, for example, we're looking to recover from province-wide customers and from generators.  But they're not the same; that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, when the Board comes to determine whether or not these expenditures are prudent, whether the costs you propose to spend are prudently incurred, should the Board be looking at the total amount, or should the Board be looking only at the net amount, that is the amount that you seek to recover in rates?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, in particular, I think the Board should be looking at the amount we're proposing to recover from province-wide customers, as well as from our own customers.  From generators, that's a separate thing that is done through capital contributions, but there will be an impact on ratepayers, whatever it is, that is to be determined by the January proceeding that this Board has put forward, from recovery with respect to external customers.  And that will need to be, I think, dealt with.

MR. WARREN:  I appreciate there is -– there is a separate one.  But my question was narrower than that.

So the Board, in your view, when it looks at the question of whether or not these are prudently incurred expenses, should look at more than just the net number.  It should look at the number -- a grossed-up number, you say, to reflect the generator costs as well; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry.  To reflect that funded by province-wide load customers externally –-

MR. WARREN:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that would be fair, yes.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, when the Hydro One Networks board came to approve these expenditures as reasonable, was it looking at the gross numbers or was it looking at the net numbers?

MR. GRAHAM:  I wasn't there.  I would expect that they would have been talking with respect to the total expenditures the company makes.  Signing authorities, for example, within the company do require us to take business cases forward on a gross-cost basis, not a net-cost basis.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I would like to turn from that to the smart grid costs.

You gave those numbers on the record this morning and you spoke faster than I could write, but my recollection is that your forecast expenditure in 2010 is some $40 million, and some $72 million in 2011.  Is that -- did I get that right?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And as I understand it, your proposal is that all of that sum or those sums are to be recovered from Hydro One Networks ratepayers in their rates; is that correct?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And as I understand it, further, that the –- there is a proposal.  And in this connection, perhaps you might turn up one of my client's interrogatories.  Actually two interrogatories, if you could turn them up.  One is an interrogatory from my client which is Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 12.  The second is an interrogatory from my friend, Mr. Crocker's, client, AMPCO, which is Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 46.

MR. CURTIS:  Could you repeat that first one again?

MR. WARREN:  The first one is Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 12.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that one.

MR. WARREN:  And the second one is an AMPCO interrogatory response --

MR. CURTIS:  Is that better?  What was the second one, please, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 46.

Now, just before we get to those, Ms. Girvan has pointed out to me an apparent conflict between the numbers you gave this morning and the numbers that are in Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.

I apologize for jumping back and forth, but that is your September update to the Green Energy Plan

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  I would submit that if we –- we checked those numbers just this morning.  I believe they're correct.  They're for two years.

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  And in total, they do not include the generator-funded costs.

MR. WARREN:  Let's just stay with the numbers for a moment before we get to the explanation.  I am looking at Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.


MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. WARREN:  The first page.  Under the heading the "Total Costs of Investments Contained in the Plan" are summarized, and we have gone under smart grid in 2010 they're 40 million, but in 2011 you've got a total of $72 million.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's correct.  Sorry, if I can just pick up my written direct response to see what it said?

I would accept that you are probably right, subject to check.  It seems to be 72.  I believe I said 92.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, my mistake, I think.

MR. WARREN:  I would be happy to take the 20 million off your hands, if you'd like.  Let's return, then, to the two exhibits --

MS. NOWINA:  Can we clarify which number is correct?

MR. WARREN:  72 million I believe is the correct number; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Subject to check, I will accept 72.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Now, Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 12, which was my client's interrogatory, indicates that in the second paragraph of the response:
"Smart grid OM&A spending is detailed and includes R&D studies and smart zone spending.  Specific studies will depend upon the response to the planned RFP described in Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 46."

Which takes me to the AMPCO interrogatory, which is attached, what I take it is a summary of the proposed RFP; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  This is the reference to H-12-46?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  Is that what you're referring to now?

MR. WARREN:  It is either a summary of the RFP or the RFP itself.

MR. CURTIS:  This is a summary of the scope of the RFP, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, is that RFP out in the public or is the RFP about to be delivered?  What is the state of the RFP?

MR. CURTIS:  The RFP has been issued.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the RFP, is it for research and development, or research and development and actually constructing portions of the smart grid?

MR. CURTIS:  This RFP covers the research and development and the development work that will be undertaken in our smart zone around Owen Sound.  This does not cover the full deployment of the smart grid.

MR. WARREN:  How much of the $40 million in 2010 and the $72 million in 2011 will be covered by the RFP?

MR. CURTIS:  I believe -- there are some operating programs that are not covered by the RFP, but a substantial portion of that amount is covered under the RFP.

MR. WARREN:  If I add the two sums, together it is 112 million, roughly, over the two years.  A substantial portion of that will be covered by the RFP; is that correct?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it would be.  Yes, it would.

MR. WARREN:  Now, as we sit here today, since some of this is research and development, I take it that we can't be -- is it fair of me to say we can't be confident that this will cost $112 million; that since some of it is research and development, it may cost less, it may cost more?  Is that fair?

MR. CURTIS:  Depending on the results of the RFP, that is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And since you are not certain as to what the exact costs would be, would you have any objection to recording those costs in a deferral account in the event that the actual cost turns out to be less than $112 million?

MR. CURTIS:  We think the design of the RFP is a very prudent manner in terms of expensing this item.  So, no, we would not feel that it would be appropriate to put this into a deferral account.

MR. WARREN:  Well, let me just stay with that for a moment.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I just interrupt my friend just for a moment?  Questions concerning the deferral account would be better addressed to panel 3.  I am content to have you continue, but panel 3 is probably better informed about that issue, I think.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Rogers --

MR. ROGERS:  Smart grid, forgive me, not the deferral account.

MR. WARREN:  The question really wasn't on the details of the deferral account.  The question is with respect to the spending on the smart grid.  How accurate is the forecast, and, if the forecast is not accurate, whether or not some of those funds should be recorded?  This is a policy issue, not the details of a deferral account.

So it strikes me that this panel is the one that can answer that question.

MR. CURTIS:  I guess to clarify that, we do have a witness on panel 3 that can talk to the details on the smart grid, as well as the details around the RFP.

So if your questions are around that sort of information, they probably would be more appropriately directed to that panel.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  I will defer them, then, to that panel.

Now, as I understand it, panel, when we look at the estimates for spending on the Green Energy Plan, they are underpinned by your forecast of renewable energy connections of some 3,500 megawatts in 2011 and 3,500 megawatts in 2012.  Have I got that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Or is it '10 and '11?

MR. CURTIS:  '10 and '11, 3,500 megawatts that span 2010 and 2011, and then a further 3,500 megawatts that are the three years after 2011.

MR. WARREN:  So that the capital spending in the Green Energy Plan, which is the subject of this application, for the two years, that capital spending is necessary for renewable energy connection for 3,500 megawatts or more than 3,500 megawatts?

MR. CURTIS:  3,500 megawatts is our expected value.  So the capital costs that are being presented in this application are for connecting that amount.

MR. WARREN:  And the 3,500 megawatt estimate is based on Hydro One's -- it is based on what?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  This is based on Hydro One's experience with the RESOP program and the applications that have come in under that, as well as post RESOP.

MR. WARREN:  The number of actual renewable energy connections that are actually connected under the RESOP program is what number of megawatts?

MR. CURTIS:  There are 130 RESOP connections that are being worked on at the moment, and the 24 applications that have been completed totalled 94 megawatts.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, what is actually in the ground is 94 megawatts; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  With apologies for a certain surprise in my voice, it seems to me a long leap from 94 megawatts to certainty on 3,500 megawatts; is that not fair?

MR. CURTIS:  This, though, is based on our assessment, Mr. Warren, in terms of the applications that have been made to Hydro One in terms of connection.

It is a process, then, that you have to go through following your application process in order to finally connect.

So there is a considerable time delay in terms of the applications under which we have assessed and arrived at the 3,500 megawatt value and the actual connection.

MR. GRAHAM:  If I could add, Mr. Warren, I think it is important to recognize, as well, that the 94 megawatts that Mr. Curtis talked about being connected are not the only ones we have experience in assessing and developing the plans for connection in going forward on the connection.

He mentioned there were 130 projects that were, I believe under RESOP, contracted.   We are going forward on connecting a number of those projects at this point in time.  That's several hundred megawatts we expect to finally connect in 2010, but the plans are in many cases already put forward.

MR. WARREN:  Then let's -- in fairness to you, panel, let's drill down to see if we can get to a number of the RESOP programs that you expect will be connected in 2010.  It is more than 94.  What is it?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe the number is around 540 megawatts.

MR. WARREN:  540.

MR. GRAHAM:  2010.

MR. WARREN:  And there is a delay factor.  Can you tell me, typically, from the time that a RESOP approval is granted to the time that it is actually constructed, what is the typical timeline?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Warren.  You are going to have to clarify what you mean by a RESOP approval.

MR. WARREN:  Well, I -- the OPA approves a contract for renewable energy.

MR. GRAHAM:  They execute a contract; that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Execute a contract.  Between the time the contract is executed and the time that the power is actually being generated, what is the typical timeline?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is difficult to say -- sorry.  It is difficult to say with accuracy because this is somewhat up to the generator.

It would be anywhere from close to a year to three years or -- depending.  It could be longer.

MR. WARREN:  Now, a number of the -- included in the forecast for 3,500 megawatts in 2010, you've got the legacy RESOP contract.

MR. CURTIS:  I would like to -- sorry, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.

MR. CURTIS:  The 3,500 megawatts spans 2010 and 2011.  It is not all connected in 2010.

MR. WARREN:  But what you know now, panel, is that you are going to have connections for renewable energy of 540 in 2010.  You know that now from what is in the pipeline under the RESOP program.  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  As long as we're not saying that is complete, but that is right in terms of what's legacy; that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the FIT tariff program is -- I believe is now finally in place, and has been in place for something like three or four months; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  For just over two months; that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And there will be, I assume, a gap -- sorry.  That is the approval is the final terms of the FIT program, and then people have to apply for approval of particular programs under the FIT tariff; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Effectively, the application that's been made under the FIT program thus far would be for a contract, a FIT contract.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. GRAHAM:  People would have to potentially redo their connection impact assessment depending on whether the previous one still applies.  In most cases, they've rescinded it, so it is a good chance there would be some redo required on a number of them.

And that is a 60-day process under the Service Guarantee Regulation that the Ministry has put forward.

And then there is processes after that, with respect to signing a connection and cost agreement with Hydro One and going into service.

MR. WARREN:  Do you know if any –- if there have been any contracts under the FIT program signed to this point?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe none have yet been signed.  Now, that's because there was a launch period when none would be signed until November 30th.

MR. WARREN:  So they're -- the first of the contracts can be signed after November 30th; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. WARREN:  So that under the FIT contracts, is it reasonable for me to assume that there will be no renewable energy projects built pursuant to the FIT tariffs in 2010, given the timeline that you have just outlined to me?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't think that is reasonable.  I think that in many cases we will have projects that are effectively fully developed, have been full assessed ready to go, and they're just waiting for the contract to actually go forward and do the connection.

MR. WARREN:  And do you know how many -- what the megawatts are associated with those?  Do you have any idea?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  We have about 740 megawatts for that.

MR. WARREN:  So what we know now with reasonable certainty is that there will be 1,240 megawatts of renewable energy in 2010 pursuant to the combination of RESOP and FIT; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  Based on those calculations, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And would --

MR. CURTIS:  However, that -- that is the -- there may be opportunity to have more than that.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. CURTIS:  That's what we're aware of as of this point in time.

MR. WARREN:  So 1,240, and we have to get, in order to justify the spending for which you are seeking recovery in rates, we have to get from 1,240 to 3,500 in 2010, 2011; is that correct?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now --

MR. ROGERS:  If I may just interrupt, I think it's -- the arithmetic is, I think, 1,280.  I think, but... not that it is a huge difference, but just as I understand the arithmetic.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Thank you for that, Mr. Rogers.

Now, in this connection, panel, I wonder if I could ask you to return to an exhibit we dealt with earlier, which is the Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 44.  It is a confidential exhibit.  And I am going to look at the April tranche of materials in that exhibit.  Again, I am not going to deal with numbers.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have it.

MR. WARREN:  And if I go to page 5 –- and by way of background, this is Ms. Frank's submission to the regulatory and environment committee of the board of directors.  And, again, by way of overview, it is her introduction, if you wish, or overview to the Green Energy Act.

If I go to page 5, under the heading -- second last paragraph under the heading "Risk", Ms. Frank says to that committee of the board of directors:

"The lower planning quality would likely lead to more frequent and larger variances from the original estimates, which would need to be managed both internally and with a regulator."

Now I am going to suggest to you, panel, that what Ms. Frank was saying there is that there is no certainty about the number of renewable energy projects that will actually come to fruition.  Is that not fair summary of what Ms. Frank is saying?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would start, Mr. Warren, and Mr. Curtis may want to add, that this is, I think, indirectly a comment on the section 92 filings, which are the transmission projects and are longer-term more subject to risk.

MR. WARREN:  Fair enough.  But is that analysis not also true for the FIT tariff programs and the RESOP programs, that there is a gap between what is planned and what actually gets built?  Is that not fair?

MR. CURTIS:  The experience, though, that we have had, Mr. Warren, in terms of the RESOP program would indicate to us that our forecast is a good forecast of 3,500 megawatts for the period of 2010 and 2011.

MR. WARREN:  Even though in 2000 -- by the end of 2010 we'll only have 1,280; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  At least 1,280, Mr. Warren, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I go down in that same exhibit, again, Ms. Frank is in this context dealing with section 92, but I am going to ask you to extrapolate from her comment on mitigation, same page:

"The financial impact of any variances should ideally be zero as positive and negative variances offset each other.  However, careful cost tracking and reporting will still be required so that variances from the original estimate can be disclosed and properly attributed to changes in scope and schedule, project issues or planning accuracy."

Do you see that comment?

MR. GRAHAM:  I do see that comment.  Again, and I know you have already referred to it, but this has to do with estimates for particular projects under section 92.  These are large projects, and it has to do with the project estimate, not to do with the forecast of the number of connections, for example, on distribution.

MR. WARREN:  I am asking you to analogize, panel, because you have put forward the number of 3,500 megawatts and there is a significant cost associated with the capital investment for this.

And I am wondering, sir, what objection Hydro One would have to recording these expenses in a deferral account in the event that, A, these projects don't come to fruition, or B, there are material variances, so that if there are significant variances, that ratepayers are not overpaying for projects that never get into the ground.

What objection would you have to that, sir?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, again, Mr. Warren, the plan that we have put forward is based on a very substantial experience in terms of the RESOP program, as well as a careful assessment in terms of the projects that are likely to proceed in the 2010 and 2011 period.

As well, the costing that has been done has been based on actual experience and what our current cost estimates are for projects of this nature.

And so we have confidence that in fact the program that we have put forward, the Green Energy Plan, is a solid and defensible plan that should go forward as our application.

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Warren, perhaps I could add, as Mr. Curtis has already mentioned, I mean we expect a lot of interest in the FIT program in terms of the higher prices and things that are there.  Certainly, as you have indicated, some of those projects may not be ready for prime time in terms of connecting in 2010.

But if you look at our evidence in D1-3-3, table 3.  that is on page 11.  It shows that the connection of generators is substantially higher in 2011 than in 2010.

So we have 164, I believe it is, connections forecast for 2010 and it is over 300 in 2011.

If you look at the ratio of that to the 1,280 megawatts, for example, that Mr. Curtis has already testified to, you get a number of roughly 3,500.

MR. WARREN:  Would you turn up, just in this context, an interrogatory response to my client, Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 32?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, I didn't hear that.

MR. WARREN:  Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 32.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, can you start thinking about when we might break?

MR. WARREN:  After this exchange I think would be fine, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. WARREN:  I don't propose to be much longer, in any event, so...

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. WARREN:  Do you have it, panel?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, we do.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in that interrogatory exchange, my client asked the question:
"What are the implications for HON if these forecasts turn out to be too high or too low, given the uncertainty around the number and type of investments?"

The response is:
"Hydro One Distribution considers these forecasts appropriate and therefore does not expect the program costs to deviate much from forecast.  If it turns out the forecast is too high or too low during the test years, Hydro One has no plans to seek relief during the test years.  As with all investments in this application, Hydro One Distribution accepts the risks associated with variances from Board-approved levels."

That is very generous of you to accept the risk, but if the risk falls on the ratepayers, why should the ratepayers be asked to bear the risk if your forecasts turn out to be wrong?

I guess, sorry, just in that context, the real issue I want to get at, what is the objection to recording these costs in a deferral account so that if ratepayers pay too much, they get something back?  What is the problem?

MR. GRAHAM:  The one thing I think I would like to mention here - it is a bit of an aside, but it is crucial - is the Green Energy Initiatives in total are going to require a lot of money of Hydro One, or at least could require a lot of money, depending on the Board's acceptance of those plans.

There is a need here to build up the capital and to have recovery of those costs as we go, so that we have assurance to the people that provide the financing that the financing should be provided at the kind of costs that we forecast.

So that is an issue, and I believe our CFO will be on the next panel and will be talking to that further.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, if you would like to take a break, now is fine.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that?  We will break until 11:15.


--- Recess taken at 10:56 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:24 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Mr. Warren.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Ms. Nowina.  Before my friend commences, could I ask the panel to clarify one issue that was raised this morning, that they took under, I think, subject to check, and that was the 92 million versus the $72 million figure.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes?

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Graham had a chance to check in the cool quiet of the consulting room about the figures, and he would like to clarify the record.

MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Graham, this morning you recall the discussion with my friend, Mr. Warren, about the difference between 92 million and 72 million?  In your evidence-in-chief, you said that Hydro One is also requesting $20 million in OM&A and 92 million in capital spend over the 2010 and 2011 test year period for work required to support the development of the smart grid.

Now, that became 72 million this morning.  Could you clarify that for the Board, please?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's correct.  And my apologies for confusing the Board and confusing the item.

If you look at the table, Table 1 -- actually it is not labelled, but the table on page 1 of Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.  And if you look at the smart grid line in that table, which is the second line down, it shows 10 million in OM&A in each of 2010 and 2011, thus 20 million over the two-year period.  It shows 30 million in capital in 2010 and 62 million in 2011, thus 92 million over the two-year period.

So those were correct as put forward in the direct evidence.

MR. ROGERS:  It appears that -- so the -- the OM&A is 20 million and the capital is $92 million.

MR. GRAHAM:  Over the two years, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Over the two-year period.  So your evidence in -- direct evidence was correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  It is my fault.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Do you understand that, Mr. Warren, since it was your question?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, I do.  Thank you.  I may have looked stunned, but I did indeed understand.

[Laughter]

MR. WARREN:  Panel, can I just stay with the smart grid for a moment?  And I know you deferred -- suggested I defer some questions on the smart grid to another panel, but let me try this with you.

Am I right in understanding that the work which is going to be done on the smart grid is -- and I may have the wrong terminology, and you correct me if I am wrong -- a kind of prototype for the -- what the smart grid can and will do across the province?  Is that fair?

MR. CURTIS:  I think that is a fair description.  Certainly our intention is to develop, in the Owen Sound area in a small contained area, and evaluate different smart grid options, and then make choices and decisions based on that, in terms of what we would propose to roll out across our territory in the province.

MR. WARREN:  Now, would I be correct in understanding that the Ministry has asked you to do this prototype work -- regardless of whether you do it in Owen Sound or anywhere else, that the Ministry is asking you, Hydro One, to undertake these -- this examination and preliminary work on the smart grid?  Is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think, Mr. Warren, that the Ministry has asked us to ensure that we are taking the direction of the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, which talks about smart grid in support of the renewable energy generation and energy conservation, among other goals of the Act.

So we have put this forward as our program to essentially learn what we need to do before we make the major investments required to actually enact it.

MR. WARREN:  And would you be sharing the benefits of whatever you learn in this smart grid work with other distribution companies?

MR. GRAHAM:  We are running this pilot for Hydro One right now.  However, it would be my expectation that the interests of all customers in the province would be served by not duplicating work, so that we would be, I would expect, willing to share the results of this with other LDCs.

MR. WARREN:  And if that is the case, let me ask two follow-up questions.  If the benefits will accrue to ratepayers across the province, why are these costs not being shared in part by ratepayers across the province?

MR. CURTIS:  Again, this program, Mr. Warren, is being designed with -- with the Hydro One context in mind.

I would like to say that the Hydro One territory for applying a smart grid application is different than the Hydro One -- than the territory for other LDCs, in that we have the rural parts of Ontario that we are servicing, and so several of the solutions that we would be examining are particularly appropriate for a rural area and not the urban areas, which would be most of the other LDCs within the province.

However, to take Mr. Graham's point, we would certainly be open to sharing our results.

MR. WARREN:  But you do serve some urban areas; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, we do.

MR. WARREN:  So presumably, is it not reasonable for me to conclude that whatever solutions you come up with in urban areas would be applicable to other urban areas?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, again, the urban part of our Hydro One territory is relatively small and concentrated, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me to what extent you have discussed with other LDCs what you are doing with a view, for example, to them deferring any spending they might do on smart grid development until you have completed your work?

MR. GRAHAM:  I am not aware specifically what's been done.  Of course, we are members of, for example, the Smart Grid Forum, which is coordinated through the IESO, and I believe other LDCs are members of that.  We would have made some presentations with respect to what we're doing.  But at this point I am not aware -- and that's not to say they haven't happened -- of specific conversations that have occurred between ourselves and other LDCs on this matter.

MR. WARREN:  You would agree with me it would make sense if, overall, costs -- spending on smart grid development could be reduced by effective cooperation; fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that would be fair, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that on the smart grid.  I want to return to a point we were talking about just before the break, and that is the question of the accuracy of predictions on connections.

And in that context, if you could turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, it is Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 11 of 24.

  MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. WARREN:  This is the July 13th filing.  And the first full paragraph reads as follows:

"Generation connection expenditures are driven by the number of projects expected to proceed to completion.  These projects can vary in terms of size from small (that is less than five kilowatts) to large (i.e., 10 megawatts to 50 megawatts) and in terms of complexity (example: distance to connection point system upgrade requirements) forecasting the actual number and type of projects is challenging.  As of April 30th, 2009, 182 of the 869 projects have received a CIA, have gone on to request a connection estimate, and 127 projects have signed a connection and cost recovery agreement committing to pay for connection."

I want to stay with the sentence:  "Forecasting the actual number and type of projects is challenging."

May I suggest to you, panel, that that would appear on the face of it to contradict your absolute certainty, repeated again here today, that there will be 3,500 megawatts of connection in 2010/2011?

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, the witnesses didn't say it with absolute certainty, in fairness to them.

MS. NOWINA:  No, I didn't hear that either, Mr. Rogers.

MR. WARREN:  That is my gloss, fair enough.  But it is my interpretation of their repeated assurances, Panel.

MR. CURTIS:  Again, Mr. Warren, this is the expected value that we're forecasting.

MR. WARREN:  No absolute certainty?

MR. CURTIS:  As with any forecast, there is no absolute certainty, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Let me return to my question, then.

There was an apparent contradiction between your confident assertion of 3,500 megawatts, and the statement that forecasting the actual number and type of projects is challenging.

MR. CURTIS:  I don't believe those contradict one another, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Now, we earlier discussed, panel -- and I want to raise this in a different context -- we earlier discussed what your overall capital budget is, and I put on to the record the numbers for 2010 of some 716 million, and for 2011 some 839 million.  I just want to contrast that with your overall capital spending in 2009, which was 450 million.  Will you take that, subject to check?  That number is in D1, tab 3, schedule 1.  But can you take it subject to check?

MR. CURTIS:  I think we have the number, Mr. Warren, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  My point, simply, is this:  You are going -- you are increasing by close to 300 million your capital spending in 2010, and then comparing 2009 to 2011, you are going from 450 million to 839 million.

My question is:  What is the capacity of Hydro One Networks to increase its capital spending by that level?  Can you do it?

MR. CURTIS:  We are confident that we can do it.  This is all part of the planning process that has gone on within the corporation.

We have had, for example, on the renewable side, a considerable amount of experience in terms of the development of the RESOP programs.  So we are confident that we will be able to do this work.

MR. WARREN:  Now, two final questions, panel.  When I look at or when the Panel looks at the Green Energy Plan exhibit, Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2 -- and on the first page of that you've got the total cost of the investments to the Green Energy Plan.

As I go through the evidence, I see a number of references to OM&A costs, for example, shared services costs that are being ramped up or increased by virtue of the Green Energy Plan.

For example, as I understand the evidence, there are increases in your legal costs.  There are increases in your corporate and communications costs.  There is, in addition, a new special advisor to the president and CEO to provide advice on this.

Are all of those collateral costs for the Green Energy Plan encapsulated -- Green Energy Plan encapsulated in this exhibit?

MR. CURTIS:  No, they are not, Mr. Warren, because those services that you are talking about are not exclusively for the Green Energy Plan, and, furthermore, many of those services are shared services that, through the accounting process, are charged back.  So they would be accounted for.

MR. WARREN:  If the Panel -- I am not sure they would, but if I wanted to know an estimate of the total cost of the Green Energy Plan, taking into account all of those functions throughout the company, legal, communications, special advisors.  Would it be possible for you to provide us, by way of undertaking, an estimate of what those collateral costs would be?

MR. CURTIS:  That would be very difficult to do, Mr. Warren.  As I mentioned, many of those services that you are talking about are not exclusively provided for the Green Energy Plan.

Often many of these are included -- or cover off the general increase in the work volume that Hydro One is experiencing on its distribution side for projects that are outside of the Green Energy Plan.

So I would find it very difficult to provide that sort of a breakdown.

MR. WARREN:  But you do agree with me that throughout your evidence, you have cited the Green Energy Plan and the Green Energy Act as drivers for increased costs in a number of areas that are not encapsulated in this summary; fair?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, panel, if you could turn up an interrogatory response to my client, Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 45?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have it.

MR. WARREN:  Just before we get to that, panel, I just wanted to ask you one question about the cost recovery agreements completed.  As of April, you had 127.  That's in Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.

I am just wondering what the number is now.  It is page 7.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, could you give me the -- sorry, could you give me the reference again, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, page 7.  It is your Green Energy Plan one.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I have it.

MR. WARREN:  You have connection cost recovery agreements completed as of April, 127.  What's the number today?

MR. GRAHAM:  Basically, I am assuming it is relatively the same.  It may have gone up by one or two, but, effectively, because of the FIT program coming in, these were put in on hiatus, so no further ones have been enacted until the FIT contracts come out, effectively, unless the proponent wished to go forward for some reason.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, panel.  Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 45, you were asked the question, as follows:
"Has HON at any point in 2007, 2008 or 2009 provided information or advice to the Minister of Energy, to the Ontario Power Authority or the Ontario Energy Board with respect to the reliability of renewable energy sources or the economic viability of renewable energy sources?"

Your answer to that question is as follows:
"Hydro One Networks is in the business of transmitting and distributing electricity in Ontario.  We do not have a corporate position on the sources of generation used by the province.  As such, Hydro One Networks did not provide information or advice to the Minister of Energy, the Ontario Power Authority or the Ontario Energy Board with respect to the reliability of renewable energy source or the economic viability of renewable energy sources."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, as I read the answer, panel, it occurs to me that -- let me ask you this question.

Would you not agree with me that a transmission link to an unreliable renewable energy source or one that is not economically viable would not be prudent?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that to clarify what we said in our answer, the OPA is responsible for procurement of generation.  That is not something that Hydro One gets involved with, other than with respect to the reliability of the system and the impact on our other customers.

So unless there is an issue with respect to transmission or distribution reliability, we are determining -- or we are expecting that the Board and various other mechanisms would determine which generation sources are prudent.

MR. WARREN:  My question to you was:  Would you agree with me that a transmission link to an unreliable energy source or one that is not economically viable would not be a prudent investment on your part?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, first off, with respect to reliability of the generator, we have protections built into our system such that if a particular generator is unreliable, we simply make sure that that generator is disconnected in terms of its reliability.

So the system is protected.  There is not an impact with respect to our customers.

MR. WARREN:  My question is a different one.  You have already built the line.  My question is:  Is it prudent investment if you don't know whether or not it is economically viable or a reliable source?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, I think that is a question for the larger sector.  It is not a question for Hydro One -- in terms of once we have determined, through whatever mechanisms, to your point, that certain sources are to be connected, it is not a question for Hydro One with respect to whether they should be connected, other than the cost of the wires and the viability of the wires to do that.

MR. WARREN:  Do I take it from that answer -- and I don't mean this in a pejorative sense, but I take it that somebody else tells you to connect to that source and you go ahead and connect to it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think that is a little simplistic.  I think what we do is evaluate the appropriateness of the wires infrastructure to connect them, but not the appropriateness of the generation source, per se.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, which is really a segue from that, is I want to make sure I understand.

You are asking the Board, in this case to approve capital expenditures - we had the numbers before - 716 million and 839 million, respectively, in 2010 and 2011.  That is the approval you are seeking is for that level of expenditure; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I might be excused.  I have to be on a plane to Montreal in about eight-and-a-half minutes.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  You may, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Who is up next?  Mr. Klippenstein?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, we have had some discussions, although not with everybody, and I am willing and ready to proceed, unless someone else has a scheduling issue.  I am happy to accommodate that or some other preference.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you go ahead, Mr. Klippenstein?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I have prepared a Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book to assist the Board in reference to the documents, and I believe my friend, Mr. Millar, has or can provide copies.

These were distributed to my friends I believe on Friday.  I haven't heard any objection to any of the contents, and, unless there are objections, I would propose to have that marked as an exhibit.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's do that, Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  POLLUTION PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION REFERENCE BOOK.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, I will proceed, and I take it your wish is to break for lunch approximately at 12:00?


MS. NOWINA:  I think 12:30 today, since we got a later start, Mr. Klippenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Klippenstein:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, members of the panel.


MR. GRAHAM:  Good morning.


MR. CURTIS:  Good morning.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I would like to ask you a number of questions on CDM, and particularly about three programs.  First of all, I would like to ask you some questions about the Peaksaver program.  I take it you are familiar with that program as a CDM measure?


MR. CURTIS:  I am familiar with it at the -- a high level, Mr. Klippenstein, yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good.  I will ask you some questions that have some details in them, but I am sure that we can operate at a high level.


The Peaksaver program, as I understand it, is an electronic arrangement that is worked out on consent with individual residential and business customers who agree to be participants, and that allows Hydro One to control their water heaters and central air conditioners on -- on very high peak days during the summer, so that they can be turned back a little bit without the participant having to do anything or even probably noticing.  Is that right?


MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.  I think, in some instances, with residential users, though, the air conditioner or the hot water heater is actually turned off for short periods of time.  It's not -- they're not necessarily scaled back.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  All right.  And that happens during the peakest of the peaks, is the intention; is that right?


MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  If you could turn in the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book, Exhibit K1.2, to tab 1, which is –-

MR. CURTIS:  Page?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  To tab 1 and Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 11.  That is at page 10 of the book.  The book has its own numbers at the top right.  For convenience, I may refer to that page number.


That is Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 11.  Do you see that?


MR. CURTIS:  I see Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 11.  Yes, I do.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And I have highlighted the numbers I am specifically referring to, which are an indication from Hydro One that on -- as of August 17th, the participant number was 22,300 in the Peaksaver program, and that that reduced demand by 19.7 megawatts; is that right?


MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  If you could turn back one page to page 9 in that document book, which has Pollution Probe interrogatory and the response for No. 10.


And in the table there in your forecast for Peaksaver participants, the number is anticipated to increase from 20,365 to 27,846, which is approximately 7500, if you can take that subject to check.  Is that about right?


MR. CURTIS:  That's correct, yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And when did Hydro One launch its Peaksaver program?  Was it in 2007?


MR. CURTIS:  It was 2006 or 2007.  I can't remember the exact date.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  How does Hydro One promote participation in this program to potential participants?


MR. CURTIS:  Typically through advertisement; bill-stuffers, for example.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Can you tell me how else?  I think -- do you have newspaper ads, or through OPA?


MR. CURTIS:  There would be various ways of advertising, Mr. Klippenstein.  That -- and it would include those, yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Is there anything else?  The newspaper ads, the bill-stuffers; do you know of any other types of promotion of the Peaksaver program?


MR. CURTIS:  I am not aware of any.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Do you know if that pretty much covers it, newspaper ads and bill-stuffers?


MR. CURTIS:  I believe that pretty much covers it, but I am sure there are other avenues that it's been -- are being used, as well.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Probably something on the website, but not everyone hunts that up, I guess.


MR. CURTIS:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Do you know what the Peaksaver promotion budget is for 2009?  And if you don't have that at your fingertips, would you be willing to either estimate it or give me an undertaking to obtain that?


MR. CURTIS:  I believe we provided information in one of the interrogatories.  Which year are you looking for?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  2009.


MR. CURTIS:  2009?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And that -– that's the promotion budget I am interested in.


MR. CURTIS:  Oh, just the promotion portion of the budget?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Correct.


MR. CURTIS:  I am afraid I don't have just the promotion portion of the budget.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Would you be willing to undertake to provide that, that number, the promotion budget for Peaksaver in 2009?


MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed that panel 4 should be able to provide that information, if that is a satisfactory way to do it.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  I will ensure that they're equipped to answer your question.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Panel 5.  Four or 5?


MR. ROGERS:  4.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.


If you could turn to page 12 of the Pollution Probe book, which is Interrogatory No. 13, in that response, Hydro One says that:

"A penetration rate of 25 percent of customers would result in an estimated 100,000 customers for this program."


And so I take it that at 100 percent participation, the residential Peaksaver participants would be approximately 400,000.  Is that a fair inference?


MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I think that would be a fair reference.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Then just to get a sense of where Hydro One and we are at in the take-up of this program right now, if I put those two numbers side by side, the 27,846 that we looked at earlier and this projection of 400,000, it seems to me that only approximately 7 percent of your potential number of residential customers have signed up for Peaksaver so far.  Is that –- is that a fair mathematical inference?


MR. CURTIS:  That's comparing the 27,846 number of participants with the 400,000 potential residential participants, and I get 7 percent.


MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I this I that is approximately correct.  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  At page 13 of Pollution Probe's document book, which is Interrogatory No. 14, in the last sentence, which I have underlined partially, Hydro One responds to Pollution Probe and says that subject to funding from the OPA, you are forecasting to add 10,000 Peaksaver participants per year between 2010 and 2014.  Is that right?


MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And then as a result of that, by the end of 2014, in other words December 31st, your forecast is that you would have approximately 78,400 Peaksaver participants, I think the math suggests.


MR. CURTIS:  I think I would have said 73,000, but I think within that... that range.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Whatever –-


MR. GRAHAM:  If I could just interject here, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. GRAHAM:  It talks about potential, and we're waiting to find out what happens with the various programs to be -- and the targets to be established.  So it is not really a forecast so much as it is a potential at this point.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  But using that word, then,
"potential", we are at about 73,000 or 78,000, depending on the calculation take-up rate for residential Peaksaver at the end of 2014.  And that is about one fifth of the potential we have looked at a moment ago; is that right?


MR. CURTIS:  Subject to confirmation of the calculation, yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Just a couple of questions about whether that part of the -- that amount of take-up of the potential is subject to being moved in a positive direction.


Is it -- would it be possible for Hydro One to hire students to go door to door to sign up new residential Peaksaver participants?

MR. CURTIS:  I would think that would be possible, yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I guess there are some obvious disadvantages which immediately spring to mind, which, in some of these door-to-door programs, there is negative reaction from people from utilities or other companies in being less than diplomatic in asking for copies of bills and that sort of thing.

But if you pay attention to avoiding those kinds of things, do you think that might be a good way for Hydro One to create a substantial increase in the number of Peaksaver participants, hiring students door to door?

MR. CURTIS:  Hydro One would have to be very careful in terms of that application, because it really does put the corporation's reputation on the line in terms of doing activities like this.

As you have cited, the homeowners aren't often receptive to that sort of approach.

So I think what you are proposing in this would have to be very carefully assessed before we would undertake a measure like that.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That seems reasonable to me.  There is, often there is a right way and a wrong way to do things, and this is an example of that.  But certainly one could avoid -- for example, the complaint of having door-to-door people ask for customers' bills, which I suspect would be a very annoying thing and perhaps misleading, wouldn't be necessary for a well-designed Peaksaver promotion.  You could get people interested and have them sign up themselves on the web.

There are smart ways to do these things.  Would you agree it would be worth a look?

MR. CURTIS:  I would think that we would look at this, but, again, Hydro One isn't necessarily in total control of how these programs are designed.  These are done in cooperation, for example, with the OPA.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Right.  And the OPA presumably would certainly also be concerned about not having door-to-door promotion occur in an irritating or stupid way.  I would assume they would also be concerned.

But my question is:  Wouldn't it be possible for Hydro One to look at door-to-door promotion for specific -- specifically for Peaksaver, in a way that would allow it to be done in a good way?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, I have agreed earlier it would be possible for Hydro One to look at it, but I think in the dialogue that we've just had, we've pointed out some of the issues that would definitely have to be carefully assessed before we would actually undertake such a program.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Klippenstein, if I could add, I mean, we're not really prepared to talk about the design of various CDM programs at this proceeding.  I believe that there will be a process under way to take a look at the targets and what should be done with respect to Ontario's CDM initiatives, which are obviously laid out in the Green Energy Act.

So it is difficult for us to answer questions which have issues with respect to what the incentives are and various other things associated with them.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I understand this isn't the final detailed approach, but I am interested in the general potential here.

The Peaksaver program seems to be one that, on the one hand, affects the extreme peaks and, therefore, is a very focussed tool, and, on the other hand, doesn't seem to be one that has a huge impact on people because it operates automatically and behind the scenes.

Do you have any evidence or any awareness that you can tell us today that would suggest that a good door-to-door program would not be a good idea for specifically the Peaksaver program?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, I think, as we've outlined, this is a possible way that Hydro One could adopt.

However, this program would have to be very carefully analysed and assessed and structured, and, as Mr. Graham outlined, the actual design of these programs will be the subject of a future hearing.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Just to try and put this at a high-level target, would Hydro One be opposed to an OEB directive that Hydro One seek OPA funding to target the sign-up of 300,000 new Peaksaver participants by December 31, 2011?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't think we could accept that at this particular stage, because, again, in terms of being able to deliver on that, we would have to make sure that we could actually design a program that we could implement, that we would be able to deliver that number.  And, as of this point in time, we have not designed that forward-looking program.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Do you have a sense of -- if Hydro One really directed its collective best minds to promoting the Peaksaver program -- well, I will change that question.

"Devoting your best minds" to Peaksaver might be a little too ambitious, but really putting a big push on designing a good Peaksaver program, what do you think would be a maximum number of new participants that Hydro One could actually think of signing up by the end of 2011?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, I think maybe I could help with that, because Pollution Probe already asked that question of us.

If we look at Exhibit H, tab 4, schedule 6, there is a table that is contained there on line 27 and 28, and within that table you can see the Peaksaver line.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Is that an interrogatory?  I don't have the whole volume.

MR. CURTIS:  It is -- well, it was a filing, the October 19th filing.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think that's at page 5 of Pollution Probe's book, for my own and others' reference, if I may.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct, Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. CURTIS:  So if you look on that table, you can see, for 2011, Hydro One is forecasting 10,000 customers for the Peaksaver.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. CURTIS:  And so that, I think, would provide you with the information in terms of what we're currently forecasting.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I understand that is your current forecast.  I am just wondering if a good program like this would really -- given some maximum boost by Hydro One, including through a student door-to-door program that is well-designed, do you have a sense that the target could be upped, the forecast could be upped?

MR. CURTIS:  I am sure if more resources were devoted to the program, that there could be an increase in terms of the uptake in this program.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Have you had any complaints about the program?  Have you seen a serious number of complaints that you are aware of?

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, could I ask you a question?  I am just trying to put into context your line of examination.

Can you tell me which issue on the issues list I could look to to feel comfortable about the details of your questioning?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I could.  I think I am finished that line of questioning, but --

MS. NOWINA:  It might still be helpful so I could make my notes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  It is obviously part of the Green Energy Plan and the Peaksaver program is part of that, and obviously Pollution Probe is suggesting it should be somewhat bigger a part.

I think my friend is just looking up the issues list for me.

MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead with your examination.  When Mr. Poch finds it, he can tell me.

MR. POCH:  I can do.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I was going to change to another program, and, Madam Chair, perhaps your question will have the same relevance.  I was going to ask about the Electricity Retrofit Incentive program.  Unfortunately, I don't have the issues list at my fingertips.

MR. ROGERS:  If I could help, issue 2.1, dealing with the load forecast, does talk about demand management initiatives, so I suppose, it would be charitable -- my friend might be on target there.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, that might be helpful, because I was trying to find it under Green Energy Plan and was struggling, but...


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So I appreciate my friend's charity, although I won't agree that that is what it is, but certainly it is -- these are all part of the DSM DSM initiatives, the Peaksaver program and the Electricity Retrofit Incentive program that I propose to look at now.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  You can go ahead with your questioning, but at some point today let me know what you think -- which issues you think it is related to.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Oh, sure.  Yeah, yeah.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Panel, turning now to the topic of the -- of another program, the Electricity Retrofit Incentive Program, if you could turn to Pollution Probe's book, page 3.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Can you tell me at a high level, just for the summary information of the Board, in a few words, what the Electricity Retrofit Incentive program does?

MR. CURTIS:  Okay.  The Electricity Retrofit Incentive Program, or ERIP, is a program that assists in terms of installing more efficient electricity equipment, in terms of its utilization.  And typically, it is within commercial organizations.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.  The table on the bottom of page 3, in the line labelled "Electricity Retrofit Incentive Program" shows in the column of estimated participants, the number of 160, which I take to be a forecast that this program will have the relatively small number of 160 participants; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And in that same column, the total number of participants for all of Hydro One's CDM programs in 2010 is a little over 45,000; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So if I compare those numbers I get that -- the conclusion then, the Electricity Retrofit Incentive program's number of participants is less than 4 percent of the total number of CDM participants for Hydro One?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct, but again, I would like to point out that this program is geared primarily to commercial customers, whereas many of these other programs are geared toward residential customers.  And of course, the number of residential customers is considerably larger than the number of commercial customers.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could turn a few pages to page 14 in Pollution Probe's book.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Which has Pollution Probe's Interrogatory No. 15.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And that informs us that the Electricity Incentive Retrofit program pays $60 per tonne of cooling for the installation of an Energy Star qualified unity -- unitary air-conditioning unit; do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And if I calculate that in terms of dollars per kilowatt, this works out to be a payment of $1,154 per kilowatt saved; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  I am afraid I don't know if that is right.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's -- I get that by taking that $60 figure and dividing it by .052 to get the amount of money saved per kilowatt.

Can you tell me if that is correct?  If -- can you -- anybody on the panel, can you tell me if that is correct in principle, or a correct calculation?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Klippenstein.  You mentioned about $1,200, I think?  What was the number?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  1154.

MR. GRAHAM:  Subject to check, that is in the right order of magnitude.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.  I want to keep that figure in mind, the savings, the payment of $1,200 or so per saved kilowatt.

And turn then, please, to tab 2 of the Pollution Probe document book.  And at page 2 of that brochure -- which it is labelled "Custom Project Application Guide for the Retrofit Program" and turn to the second page of that, which is page 16 of the Pollution Probe book.

At the top under the heading of "Incentives" the brochure says:

"Incentives from Hydro One Networks Inc. will be determined based on the lesser of..."

And then three criteria or evaluation methods are listed, the first one being $250 per kilowatt saved; do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So on this part of the program, the maximum payment per kilowatt saved is $250 per kilowatt for custom projects; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That -- that is what the form says, yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yeah.  And that compares to the 1,200 per kilowatt for the part of the program we just looked at a minute ago in the -- the unitary air-conditioning unit; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  I assume that's correct.  Unfortunately, you are getting into a level of detail with this particular program that I am not really familiar with.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  I don't need to go back to that 1,200 at the moment.

What I do want to ask you about is just, again, at a level of general principle, comparing a few numbers and picking up that 250 per kilowatt saved that we've just looked at.  If you could turn to tab 3 of the Pollution Probe book, I want to quickly look at two examples of other amounts that I want to compare to that $250.

If you look at tab 3, the -- it contains an OPA news release regarding a contract awarded for northern York Region power plant; do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  This is the one entitled "Contract awarded for North York region power plant"?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein did the panel have a chance to see these documents before?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  Mm-hmm.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  They got them, I think, over the weekend.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And I don't want to read the press release, I just want to point out two numbers which I don't think are contentious.

In the first paragraph, you will see that proposed power plant has an output planned of 393 megawatts; do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  On the second page, I have underlined the estimated capital cost of the project at 365 million; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  I see that, yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And just to compare those two numbers, the -- that cost is almost a thousand dollars per kilowatt for that capacity; is that right?  You just compare those two numbers, the 365 million and the 393 megawatts?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct, yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And very quickly, turning to tab 4, there is one other example I would quickly like to draw your attention to.  That is an OPA news release about a proposed power plant in Oakville; do you see that?

MR. ROGERS:  Page 25.  These aren't tabulated, our copy, so it's page --

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay.  That's page 25.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And just as I did with the previous page, this shows in the underlined portion its capacity of 900 megawatts; do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And its cost, lower down, at $1.2 billion; do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And comparing those two numbers, I get a figure, cost per kilowatt capacity of $1,333.  Can you take that, subject to check?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So the reason I ask about these points is that I -- I have, then, in my mind, these two plants being proposed where the cost is in one case approximately $100,000 per kilowatt hour -- per kilowatt, and in the other case, approximately $1300 per kilowatt, and yet I see the Electricity Retrofit Incentive Program incentive for custom projects at something like 250 kilowatts maximum.

It just seems, to me, that there's, at a high level, at a principle level, a big gap there between what is being spent and what is being allocated to save spending.

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, Mr. Klippenstein, I think this should be better brought up in terms of what the appropriate thing for Ontario to do in terms of its supply resources and its demand response resources is.  This is not something this panel can really comment on.

There are other aspects of reliability, et cetera, that need to be considered.  The OPA takes a look at the value of savings, the value of new generation and comes up with a plan, and I would think that is the appropriate venue in which to ask these questions.

We are not really in a -- I understand you are putting facts on the record, but we are not really equipped to talk to those.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I am doing more than putting facts on the record.  This is a high-level principle question, and I will take your answer as you give it.

But what we have here is the incentive program, which provides a maximum of $250 a kilowatt to save; whereas these examples are capacity being built at numbers at 1,000 and 1,300.

So why, as a matter of principle, is there any reason why that can't be explored further, in terms of upping that incentive to avoid those expensive kilowatt capacity costs?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, I think it could be, Mr. Klippenstein.  But I guess to put the matter on record, what you are referring to here, in terms of the document that starts on page 15, is what we have had in place as far as the Electricity Retrofit Incentive Program.

And this has been based on discussions with the OPA to arrive at what the appropriate incentives would be for that program.

I think what you are venturing is that in our future plans, there may be an opportunity to revisit those incentive numbers.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  But would Hydro One object to a directive from this Board to seek funding from the OPA to increase that program's incentive payment for custom projects from the 250,000 -- $250 per kilowatt to in the area of 1,000 per kilowatt?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't think it's for this -- this panel is properly equipped to be able to comment on that.

I think what you are talking about, perhaps, would be better directed to -- I believe it is panel 3 or 4.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I see.  But, again, at a high level, at a principle level, would you agree that it would make some sense for Hydro One to seek funding from the OPA to increase that level of incentive at a general level of principle?

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Klippenstein, again, there are a number of aspects which I am not familiar with in terms of what various programs get what type of incentives and expenditures with respect to the value.  So that's not something we are equipped to talk to.

I really don't know the answer to your question.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.

So that's for another panel, you're suggesting, is that...?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think what you're talking about ventures into the realm of what the OPA is responsible to in terms of expenditures on various supply and demand options for the province.  Now, certainly we're a participant in those discussions, in terms of developing targets and programs, et cetera, and we could, you know, take your advice with respect to what should be looked at in terms of those programs, but this is not a question for Hydro One.

It is not our job to determine what the appropriate balance between those various aspects is.

MR. ROGERS:  I can advise the Board there is no other panel better qualified to answer the question.  There is no one in this case to answer these questions.  We didn't think this case was about this topic.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, I don't -- I am flattered that you would consider my bumbling questions to be advice, but I am just wondering, again, at a matter of principle.  I don't want issues to fall between chairs when they seem to make sense for somebody to deal with them.

So all I am asking is whether it would be -- whether there would be any objection from Hydro One to have the Board direct Hydro One to seek funding from the OPA to increase the level of those incentives, because there's a big gap there.  And it doesn't seem sensible that it just be left hanging, and somebody should deal with it.

MR. ROGERS:  I can advise the Board that this company will follow your directions, whatever they may be.

MR. GRAHAM:  I was going to say that.  I really think -- I don't know, to be honest, exactly what process is anticipated with respect to coming up with final targets for CDM and looking at the procurement, and so on, but it is in that arena that these things need to be discussed.

And I agree with you.  I mean, there's subjects worthy of discussion.  They're just not going to the wires investments, per se, although they can affect the wires investment if we decide to spend various things on different things.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  But would Hydro One object to an OBA directive to use its own funds - not OPA funds, but its own funds - to increase the level to $1,000 per kilowatt in this savings program?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I know our general position on this is that these saving benefit the customers of Ontario generally with respect to the peak savings or other things that might be achieved.  So, in general, I think we look for the province as a whole, as opposed to Hydro One Network's distribution customers, per se, to pay for them.  But that is not talking about the value.  It is just talking about who pays.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  What do you mean it is not talking about the value?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I mean, I am not judging with respect to whether more money should be spent.  I am simply talking about our judgment with respect to who should fund whatever is determined to be appropriate.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I guess I am lost.  All I see is this $250 incentive maximum, $250 to avoid spending $1,000 on capacity, and I am just wondering whether -- or why Hydro One would object to using its own funds and charging them to distribution rates to increase that incentive to, I guess, save money.

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, those funds would be saved with respect to the commodity cost.  And the commodity benefit, in general -- this is, again, what underlies our proposition here with respect to recovering the costs of new generation connections where it directly benefits the generator from all province-wide customers.  We feel that is a benefit to Ontario as a whole, not just our generation customers.

I am not sure, with respect to CDM, whether that unduly, if you will, goes to our system, which is the situation with the generation in terms of potential for new renewables.

But that would have to be worked out in terms of who funds what with respect to those programs.  That's not what we're here to talk about.  Further, we are not proposing that any impact on distribution rates be forthcoming from these CDM programs at this point in time, subject to whatever process needs to be undertaken, to determine what we should do.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.

Finally, a few questions about your double return program.  If you could turn to tab 1, page 2, would you mind just summarizing, in a few words, what the double return program is?

MR. CURTIS:  Could you...  I am not picking up, I don't think, your reference.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. CURTIS:  Page 2 of the book is your index; is that correct?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Sorry, I meant, if I didn't say so, tab 1.

MR. ROGERS:  We don't have tabs, but if you keep turning, you will see pagination at the top right hand, Mr. Curtis.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Top right, page 2.  That is Exhibit H, tab 4, schedule 4, page 2.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that now.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And at the bottom of that table on the left-hand side is a reference to the double return program.  Do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, yes, I see that.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Could you just summarize what that program does?

MR. CURTIS:  This is an offer by Hydro One to customers that if they reduce their peak requirement or demand over the course of a summer period by a certain percentage, that would reduce their bills, obviously, because they have reduced it from their previous year's consumption.  And the utility, Hydro One in this case, would provide them with the same amount.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Right.

MR. CURTIS:  So, hence, it is called double return.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Right.  That program, according to this table, will save, if I look at the column "Estimated Annual Savings" -- do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  There is two figures in the bottom section, 44,000 approximately and 70,000 approximately, and if I total those, I get approximately 115,000 megawatt hours; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And so that is the savings from this double return program; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And when I compare that 115,000 to the total at the bottom, which is 160,911, I look at those two numbers and I -- one is 72 percent of the total, so that tells me that the double return program will be responsible for 72 percent of Hydro One's total CDM savings in 2009.  Is that fair?

MR. CURTIS:  In terms of megawatt hours, yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yeah.  And according to that table, the cost to that program is only 1.2 million; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That's what the cost is, yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And the cost, in total, of all of Hydro One's 2009 CDM programs is approximately 18 million, which I get from the "forecasted expenditure column"; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So if I do that math, then this program, the double returns program, provides 72 percent of Hydro One's CDM savings for only seven percent of its total budget; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  Subject to confirmation of the calculations, that sounds to be about the right order, yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And so that works out to savings at a cost of only one cent per kilowatt-hour, right?  I get that by --

MR. CURTIS:  By doing that division, yes.  Yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mm-hmm.  And can you tell me a bit about why that program would be so cost-effective?

MR. CURTIS:  The amount that's actually invested in it, from our perspective, is in terms of the -- the advertising of the program.  So it hasn't cost all that much, in terms of doing that advertisement.  And we have had a significant uptake as far as that program, in terms of the offering that was made to customers.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Was that available in 2009 to all customer classes?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't know the answer to that one.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Would you undertake to let me know that?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.1, and sorry, Mr. Klippenstein, I missed it.  Could you please repeat the question?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That was to advise whether, in 2009, the double returns program was available to all customer classes.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  To advise whether the double returns program was available to all customer classes in 2009.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And then if you could turn, please, to Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 5, which is on page 2 of the document book.  Sorry, page 3 of the document book.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  This asks for forecasts of each of Hydro One's 2010 CDM programs, but I don't see any reference to the double returns program there.  Do you know why that would be the case?

MR. CURTIS:  The double return program is an OPA custom program, whereas many of the ones that are listed for 2010 are part of its core program.

And my understanding of the reason why it is not included on the 2010 is that we don't have any information, in terms of whether the OPA is planning on continuing its custom program in this area.  So until that process has been gone through, we haven't included it into our forecast.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I see.  Given that the double returns program is so cost-effective, has Hydro One considered increasing the financial incentive to achieve even greater savings?

MR. CURTIS:  Not that I'm aware of, no.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Do you think that might be a good idea to consider, considering how effective it is?

MR. CURTIS:  I am sure it would be considered, in terms of the overall design of all of our programs going forward.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  From your level of knowledge, are you aware of any reason why it wouldn't be a good idea to increase the incentive of that program?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, again, I think, as Mr. Graham has outlined, we're talking amongst all of these programs a balancing, in terms of what the appropriate investment would be to achieve the appropriate -- the results or the intended results.

So I don't know specifically for this program any reason why that wouldn't be part of the consideration, but it would have to be part of the consideration in terms of the development of the overall programs.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  To ask what -- to push the envelope a little bit, do you have any reason to think that a triple returns program would not be even more cost-effective than the double returns?

MR. CURTIS:  I am afraid I wouldn't have information on that, that I could offer.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Are you aware of any analyses or studies within Hydro One that examine the potential effect of increasing that incentive, or even tripling it?

MR. CURTIS:  No, I am not.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Would you undertake to conduct a modest enquiry and see whether there are any such analyses on that increasing incentive possibility for the double returns program?

MR. ROGERS:  I don't understand.  I thought he just answered that question, Madam Chair.  He is not aware of any.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No, I am asking whether the witness would be willing to make modest enquiries to see whether there were any analyses or studies on the question of whether increasing the incentives in the double return program would be effective.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I am instructed that there are people who are better qualified to answer the question, and I am prepared to take an undertaking as the fastest solution to this.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

Madam Chair, those are all of my questions.  I guess I need a number for that undertaking.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, let's get a number for the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it's J1.2, and I think it has been clearly described.

MS. NOWINA:  Describe it for my notes, Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I beg your pardon?

MS. NOWINA:  Can you describe it for my notes?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay, yes.  I've asked the witness to make modest enquiries as to whether there are studies or analyses in Hydro One on the question of whether it would be effective or desirable to increase the incentives of the double returns program.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  To make modest enquiries as to whether there are studies or analyses in Hydro One on the question of whether it would be effective or desirable to increase the incentives of the double returns program.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Before we break for lunch, did Mr. Poch assist you in finding the issue that your questioning refers to?

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I had just simply assumed that CDM fell under the Green Energy Plan, and you are right, of course, it is a fact -- there is a specific item with respect to the -- whether or not the load forecast appropriately takes into account the impacts of CDM.  That's item 2.1.  I think I am in the same situation as Mr. Klippenstein.  I assumed CDM simply is part of the Green Energy Plan.  That said, I acknowledge the company's position, which is that they will be coming forward at later date with details of the CDM portion of their plan, presumably after the -- the Board has spoken on targets.

And so I can tell you my, and I can't speak for Mr. Klippenstein, my approach here is that we would be looking at this very briefly, just as a question of allocation of resources in the interim.

I can't assist you further, I don't think.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yeah.  I would say that Pollution Probe also concluded that the reference to load forecast and CDM programs related to the CDM and the Green Energy initiatives.  And I would go further than Mr. Poch, perhaps, and say that it's not my understanding or submission that all these questions can be postponed.  I think my friends or the witnesses have today given some idea that these questions could benefit from some consideration early on, now, preplanning, so that they don't -- they don't need to all be postponed.

They can think about them now and, actually -- and the Board also can give consideration to them now, in my submission.  It shouldn't be assumed that they should just be postponed into some vague later planning zone.

So the bottom line is my submission is these questions are relevant for the Board, for this decision.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  That might be a matter of submissions later, but, thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Who is going to be next up after our lunch break?  Everyone seems really eager.

MR. FAYE:  Madam Chair, Energy Probe will be pleased to go next.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Faye.  You can go next, then.

And regarding our discussion on the confidentiality matters, we will be able to address that after lunch in Mr. Warren's absence?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  If I could just make a suggestion now, and I need to take some instructions about this, I'm aware of the difficulty the Board is in in dealing with these confidential filings, and I know you want to have as much as possible on the public record of what is discussed.  I do understand that.

These documents that we're going to be discussing tomorrow morning are relatively lengthy, and we have looked at it and it's very difficult, if not impossible, to redact them.

So we are working on preparing summaries to comply with your requirements, but I am going to suggest this as an alternative.  As I said, I would like to think about it.  It just occurred to me over the past little while.

If my friends could tell me which pages they intend to refer to from those documents, then I would -- could look at them and see whether anything needs to be redacted from those pages.

It would simplify the process immeasurably from our standpoint if that could be done.

MS. NOWINA:  And from ours, as well.  So I would ask parties if they can assist Mr. Rogers in doing that analysis and you can get back to us.

All right, thank you.  We will break until 1:30.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could be excused for the remainder of the day?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Klippenstein.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:35 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:40 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Mr. Rogers, do you have anything to discuss?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you, Ms. Nowina.

Dealing first with this issue about the confidential documents, I can advise the Board that my client is now preparing summaries of those documents, which we'll have available to file tomorrow morning, I hope.

As I said earlier, it is very, very difficult to try and redact the documents.  My client has taken up my suggestion that if the parties would give to us a list of the pages they wish to refer to, then we can look at those pages, and it may be that there will be no confidentiality at all attached to them.

If there is, I think we can probably redact the portions that are confidential.  Mr. Thompson has already given me a list of the pages that he wishes to have pursued on behalf of his client.

So off -- that is the proposal I am suggesting.  If the other parties would accommodate us, I think we can really save a lot of time and aggravation with these confidential documents.

Now, while I have the mic, maybe I'll just say this as well, that with respect to Mr. Thompson's issue and Mr. Warren's suggestion, I note Mr. Warren has gone to Montreal.  So it is fine to make an offer and then leave town, but...

[Laughter]

MR. ROGERS:  My suggestion is this.  My client's agreeable to this, that the Board's original order stand this morning, that Mr. Thompson not be permitted to participate in the confidential processes of this Board.  But I'm agreeable to and my client is agreeable to him passing his questions.  Mr. Warren will be here, and my client is agreeable to Mr. Thompson passing them to his partner, if his partner signs the declaration, and to have his partner or a colleague or anyone of his choosing can then participate in the confidential processes, but that Mr. Thompson not be permitted to do so in this case.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Now, just one last thing, Madam Chair, if I could say with respect to timing of witnesses, Mr. DeVellis is here this afternoon.  I don't want to burden the Board with this controversy, but the Schools has a witness, Dr. Woo, dealing with kind of an esoteric topic of densities and so on.  My client has a witness, Mr. Todd, or perhaps Dr. Todd, who is dealing with the same topic.

Dr. Woo is only available apparently this Friday, and that's been the issue.  My concern was that I didn't want the Applicant's panels to be held over Christmas to convenience Dr. Woo, although we want to convenience him as much as we can, so long as we can be sure of finishing this case, the main part of the case before Christmas.

In any event, we are agreeable, subject to your approval, that Dr. Woo may be called out of turn.  Mr. DeVellis and Mr. Shepherd wanted Dr. Todd here to be cross-examined by them first on Friday, but I cannot get Mr. Todd here.  He is in New Brunswick, working on another important project, and he cannot come until the time we had originally intended, next week at the end of the case.

So I trust that is satisfactory to you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Well, let's take them one at a time, then, regarding the confidential documents.  That is helpful, and tomorrow morning we will discuss, in the end, what we have to determine is confidential, how much is left after we have the summaries, and you have looked at the pages.  And that will, I guess, probably assist Mr. Thompson that we will have some part of those documents on the record, or the summaries of them, in any case.

Mr. Thompson, regarding the -- your circumstance, I think that we agree with what Mr. Rogers has said and that is the way we will handle it.  If you would like to pass your questions on to Mr. Warren or anyone else that you designate, and they can proceed asking those questions and dealing with the cross-examination on your behalf, or on your client's behalf.

And then finally, regarding Dr. Woo, that is fine.  We will go ahead with Friday.  It is unfortunate that neither Mr. DeVellis or -- Mr. DeVellis is here.  Ah.  How are you doing, Mr. DeVellis?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Better, thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. DeVellis, is that -- does that work for your client, then?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, it is.  Thank you.  We appreciate the accommodation.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then we will expect to here Dr. Woo Friday morning.  Do you know how long we will take with Dr. Woo's cross-examination?

MR. ROGERS:  I expect to be less than an hour.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Well, we will leave you to work it out with Board Staff, what is the appropriate time for Dr. Woo to appear and what else can cover that day.

Are there any other matters before we proceed?

Mr. Faye, I think you were up next.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, my questions are going to be largely directed towards your Green Energy Plan document, and I will also be referring to a couple of Energy Probe interrogatories.  You might want to turn up IR 63 right now.  That is Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 63.  If you could let me know when you have those documents up?

MR. CURTIS:  I have them.

MR. GRAHAM:  We have them.

MR. FAYE:  The first area I want to look at appears on page 1 of the Green Energy Plan.  And I just want to confirm that the costs in this table at the bottom of page 1 are directly related to the amount of generation that you expect to connect in 2010 and 2011; is that correct?

MR. CURTIS:  The line for the renewable generation is.  The lines for smart grid and for energy conservation, are -- we are referring to A-14-2, page 1?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, we are.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  And that table, the line titled "renewable generation" is directly determined from the forecast of renewable generation connection.

MR. FAYE:  And if I understood you correctly, in response to my friend, Mr. Warren, that amount was 3,500 megawatts in 2010/2011; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Now, turning to page 7 of the Green Energy Plan, there is a table on there that details some of the progress that's being made on applications since 2006.
The 3,500 megawatts that you talk about, is that directly related to the -- to the so-called CIAs and connection cost recovery agreements in this table?

MR. CURTIS:  Not directly related, although there is a relationship.

What we have done is we have assessed, based on the CCRAs that have been signed and the CIAs that have been concluded, what is likely to go forward in 2010 and 2011.

MR. FAYE:  There's not some more CIAs or connection cost recovery agreements outside of the ones listed in this table, is there?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, this was a continuing process that -- that is documented there.

So for example, by July of 2009, we had completed 908 CIAs.  So this continues to evolve.

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Faye, if I could add, these are all historical from the RESOP program.  They would not include any impact of the upcoming FIT program, which we expect to see contracts on shortly.

MR. FAYE:  Good.  For the RESOP program, then, this is all the RESOP program here?  There is not a parallel program that has other applications in it, is there?

MR. CURTIS:  No, there isn't.  And the RESOP program has been terminated.  But I think what we wanted to point out is that even after the termination of the RESOP program, we continued to receive applications and processed CIAs.

MR. FAYE:  So the only way you can get into the process of getting connected is either through RESOP, historically, or through FIT now?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's not strictly true, Mr. Faye.  As the Board has indicated in their processes and their quote, amendments, the option is there for people to go forward on their own, on a merchant basis, if you will, to connect and to apply for connection.

The vast majority of what we have seen, it's our understanding, though, are under the OPA contracts, for looking to the OPA contracts.

MR. FAYE:  I was just trying to get at:  Of the 3,500 megawatts that you are forecasting will be connected, can I assume that the great majority of that is in the FIT or the historical RESOP applications?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is a fair assumption, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  And just so I understand the process, could you just walk us through, very briefly, what a CIA is, how it is done, how long it takes, that sort of thing?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, CIA stands for Connection Impact Assessment, so not being an electrical engineer, I can't describe it in detail, but it is an electrical system assessment with respect to the impact of the proposed new generator on the system.

MR. ROGERS:  Whatever you do, please do it slowly.  Thank you.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, second time.  Third time I am out.

And it is now under the regulations that have been put forward by the Ontario government covered by a service guarantee, so it needs to be done within 60 days of getting the application, getting a complete application.

MR. FAYE:  And you would get a complete application after someone gets approved in the FIT program?

MR. GRAHAM:  For the FIT process, yes.  That's a change from the RESOP process, whereby people could apply for CIAs in advance of getting a RESOP contract.  Under the FIT process, if you wish to get a FIT contract, you must get the contract first before you get a CIA.

MR. FAYE:  And I think I heard you answer Mr. Warren that nothing really has happened on the FIT program up to November 30th.  You haven't received any applications there yet, have you?

MR. GRAHAM:  No, I haven't been involved.  I wouldn't say nothing.  However, with no contract generators have as yet come forward to us with a CIA application, because the contracts are just about to be signed.

MR. FAYE:  Do you anticipate some this month?

MR. GRAHAM:  I guess at one point we had hoped that they might be this early, but the most that we're likely to see this month would be small generators, micro-FIT generators they're called, less than 10 kilowatts.  I would expect under FIT we will start to see contracts in the new year.

MR. FAYE:  So then the earliest that your first connections impact assessment would be done would be the end of February, effectively; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is generally a fair characterization.

MR. FAYE:  Now, if I understand it right, the next step is, if the CIA results in a favourable outcome for the generator - that is, it can be connected - and if the generator still wants to proceed, the next step, is it the connection cost recovery agreement?

MR. GRAHAM:  There may be an estimate done in there, but basically the connection cost recovery agreement is the next required step.

MR. FAYE:  And how long does that process take?

MR. GRAHAM:  It can happen very quickly, if the generator is willing, but it can take up to six months into the Board's order with respect to maintaining your capacity allocation.  You need to have it done within six months after the termination of the CIA or you lose the capacity allocation.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  If my math is adequate to this challenge, it looks like two months to get the CIA done, another six months potentially to get a cost recovery agreement in place.  That's eight months.

That takes us to the end of August of 2010 before any FIT applications actually get to the point where someone is going to put a shovel in the ground?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, what I would disagree with there, Mr. Faye, is that it will take necessarily six months.  Six months is the maximum.  In many cases, we would expect projects to already be under way to have essentially the information they need to go forward and to be ready to go as soon as the CIA is completed.

MR. FAYE:  Has that been your experience under the RESOP program?

MR. GRAHAM:  RESOP is a different program.  The prices are lower.  The assessment is different.

So to use the RESOP experience in terms of going forward as analogous to FIT is not appropriate.   The program is different.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that there are differences.  I guess my point is that according to the table on page 7 of your Green Energy Plan that I referred to previously - and this is the table that describes how many CIAs were completed, how many connection cost estimates were completed - compared to the number of CIAs requested, there's few connection costs agreements arrived at.

I wonder, is that the result of it being a lengthy process or it being the result of the money isn't good enough for the generator to want to go forward?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, as many people would know, we did have problems, if you will, at Hydro One doing the CIAs given the volume we saw from RESOP in the first place.  However, generally speaking, one would expect the number of CCRAs that were signed in the end vis-à-vis the number of CIAs is basically a result of the conditions of the programming, including the price.

Now that the price has gone up, people can finance those projects much more easily, and, therefore, we expect to see a lot of projects that perhaps could not arrange financing, for example, and now able to do so.

MR. FAYE:  So still on the process, then, I think what I heard you say was that Hydro One had some difficulty keeping up with the demand for CIAs and that that introduced some delays into the process; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's true originally.  That's not true in terms of the numbers that are here, because we caught up basically on what was -- were called at the time the backlog, but in the first couple of years, yes, we did have people taking longer than 60 days, which is now the service guarantee requirement.

MR. FAYE:  Did you catch up because you learned how to do them faster, or did you catch up before you had more staff?  What was the reason there?

MR. GRAHAM:  Largely again because we learned how to do them better and the resourcing.  Definitely we increased resources pretty substantially with respect to this.

MR. FAYE:  So then for the connection cost recovery agreement, the CCRA as you called it, have you gone up the same learning curve?  You are very quick at those, too, now?

MR. GRAHAM:  To actually do an agreement like that takes less than a month.  It is a matter of the generator having to apply and say that, Yes, I am ready to sign such an agreement.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Let me move to another answer you gave to Mr. Warren this morning.

I think he asked you, of the number of applications that you had under the RESOP program, how many actually resulted in connections, and I believe your answer was that there were 24 applications amounting to 94 megawatts, total connected.  Do I recall that accurately?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  If I divide those two numbers, I get roughly 4 megawatts per application, general average.  Would you agree with that?

MR. CURTIS:  I think that is generally the result of the division, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Now, would it also be indicative of the size of projects, on average, that you got in those RESOP applications?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't think so.  We're talking about the smaller end in terms of those applications.  I think most of the applications were in the 9 to 10 megawatt range under RESOP.

MR. FAYE:  So the ones that got to the CCRA stage, and then connected to the system, were relatively smaller projects than the predominant ones that you would see; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct, yes.

MR. FAYE:  And should I draw the same conclusion from the FIT program?

MR. GRAHAM:  No, that's not the case.  Basically, again, our view, at least at this point, is that the larger projects would have had more challenge in terms of getting financing, for example, which should be alleviated under the FIT program, assuming they're willing to put up the security, et cetera.

MR. FAYE:  So I take from that that not only will you see more applications in the, say, 9 to 10 megawatt range, but more of them will actually get to the CCRA stage and be connected; is that what I should understand?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that's a fair assumption.  Just I think one of the interrogatories - and, I'm sorry, I can't remember the number offhand - said that we had approximately six -- 700 projects for about 5,800 megawatts' worth of capacity in terms of projects that have actually had CIAs done.

So if you do the division on that, you end up with something more like 8 -- I guess 7, 8 megawatts.

MR. FAYE:  Reading again the table on page 7, the total of 127 CCRA agreements completed to the April 2009 period, I believe you have updated that with a slightly higher number now, but only 24 of those have connected?  Am I reading that right?

MR. CURTIS:  Could you go back over that again?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  I am on page 7 of the Green Energy Plan.

MR. CURTIS:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  Under the "Connection Cost Recovery Agreements Completed" column, I see as of April 2009 127 of these agreements have been completed.

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Then I am referring back to Mr. Warren's question this morning.  Of the 130 RESOP connections, how many actually did result in a connection?  I think your answer was 24 for 94 megawatts.

MR. CURTIS:  I believe it was 20 for 94.

MR. FAYE:  Twenty for 94?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Is that 130 the same as this 127 number, give or take?  Are we looking at the same material here?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  I think so, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Now, I would assume that of the 130 or 127, some of them would have been from 2007 from that 58 number?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't know what the distribution actually looks like, but certainly what you've got there is the history of the RESOP program.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think my concern is -- and I will express it to you this way -- that of the 127, with only 25 or 24 actually coming to fruition, and if your forecast is based on your RESOP experience, as I think I have heard you say, it appears to be that 20 percent of those who get connection cost agreements actually go ahead and build a project and --

MR. CURTIS:  No, I don't think that is a correct conclusion to draw.

The -- the issue here is that the CIA process is the first step along the road to connection with Hydro One.  And what we're looking at are those parties that have been interested in at least initiating that process.

After that, it is highly dependent on the applicant, in terms of how quickly they want to proceed to an ultimate cost connection recovery agreement or a CCRA.  And as I think Mr. Graham outlined, under the RESOP program with the prices that were being offered, many of the applicants had difficulty, in terms of being able to secure financing.

Now, an applicant will not sign a CCRA agreement until they have been able to secure their own financing, to ensure that they can actually go forward with the obligations under the CCRA.

So that, in fact, I think is a measure in terms of the pace.  What we are understanding is with the higher prices under the FIT program, that many of these applications that have come in already as CCRAs -- sorry, as CIAs, will now be very quick or -- to proceed to completing their construction cost recovery agreements, because they will be able to secure that necessary financing.

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Faye, if I could just have a second with my panel members, and begging the Board's indulgence, just a second.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry.

MR. FAYE:  If I could just sort of echo back to you what I think I heard you say, that at the CIA stage, all generators want to know whether it is possible to be connected before they start to consider whether there is enough money in it for them.  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's fair.  I think that is one of the reasons that in the FIT program, they are required to get a FIT contract first, with security requirements that go along with that, before they get a CIA, so that we are more likely to see them come to fruition.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And if I look, again, on page 7 at the chart, starting at the left hand side, there's -- there's 1,553 CIAs requested up to April of 2009.

Some of them can't be entertained because they fall outside your technical limits, your threshold.

And of the balance, 869 CIAs were completed.  I have read that right, have I?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, you have.

MR. FAYE:  And then I think I heard you say a few moments ago that before a generator will go ahead and exercise a connection cost agreement, he has to be confident that he has the financing and that the project is actually going to give him the return he needs.

MR. GRAHAM:  The financing, he has to pretty much be sure he has got his financing for his generation project.  He certainly has to have the financing in place to pay for his connection.

So, yes, in general, our understanding is that the generators would like to have their financing arranged before they enter into that agreement.

MR. FAYE:  So now if I look at CIAs completed and CCRAs completed, there's 869 CIAs and there is 127 connection cost recovery agreements.

Is it fair to infer that those 127 did have their financing in place and were satisfied that the project was a viable one?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it is fair to infer that is true of the majority.  We don't know the circumstances in all cases.  There may have been some that have taken effectively a leap of faith and are able to do it out of their own private resources, but generally speaking, one would expect that financing is available to them either from their own sources or from arranged financing.

MR. FAYE:  And I think you suggested that those were the impediments to getting a generator on line.  You had to go through this process of first establish that it was technically feasible to get it on line.  Next, establish that you had the financing to at least connect, and probably the financing to build the plant.  And yet with all of that, out of 127 people that were pretty sure that they could go ahead, and had the money in place, there were only 20 that did it.

Why would you -- how would you explain that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, there is a couple of things I would suggest.

First off, that my understanding -- and this is what we were just conferring about -- is that there were a few projects connected prior to 2009.  I don't have the citing of the evidence.  That's why I am a little leery, but apparently about 19 projects were connected prior to that.  So that is a total now of about 40 projects of the 127.

We do expect -- and I think with this was testified to this morning -- that a significant, large number will also connect in 2010, so that are still to come.  We talked about 540, which was my number.  Actually, it was under RESOP.  And I think Mr. Curtis talked about 740, which was his number including some additional people.

So that it is not just that 20 have connected and that's all that is going to come out of those 127 CCRAs.  We expect that a larger -- a much larger number, a much higher percentage of the 127 will go forward to completion.

MR. FAYE:  So if I accept the estimates you have just given and we up our number to 40, then one-third -- less than one-third of those who have a connection cost agreement actually got their plant constructed and connected.  Is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, thus far.  Again, this to the end of 2009.  If you notice, a lot of those who were signed in 2008 may not have been ready to go.  They may have been -- because of issues that cropped up in the development of the FIT program and the time it has taken and the fact that they couldn't get -– they may have been counting on getting a FIT contract eventually, upping from a RESOP contract.  So there are a number of reasons that might go to people not having connected as yet, but would still be expecting to connect.

MR. FAYE:  Still be expecting, yes.  All right.  Well, let's assume that all of that I taken as fact, and that 40 of this 127 have already connected, approximately 40, 19 that you think might have connected and sort of got underneath the radar of this chart, and another 20 that were mentioned this morning.  That is 39, so I am going to call that 40; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair.

MR. FAYE:  That leaves 87 that still might connect.  And I think you just referred to your estimate of 540 megawatts to be connected in 2010 that -- that would -- would that be mostly those ones?

MR. GRAHAM:  I am assuming because those are -- the 540 I talked about are those with RESOP contracts, and typically they would have CCAs if they have a RESOP contract.  So I believe there is about 60-odd projects that contribute to that 540 megawatts.  And Mr. Curtis had spoken of a higher number of 740, which included some additional connections, as well.

MR. FAYE:  So I think what you are saying is that 60 of the outstanding 80 would be going ahead, and that comprises your 540 megawatts?  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  At least 60, yes.

MR. FAYE:  At least 60.  Well, do you think it is more than 60?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, Mr. Curtis had talked about some additional projects.  I was talking about the ones that specifically have RESOP contracts, and thus have an OPA contract to proceed.

MR. FAYE:  So of the RESOP contracts, of the 80 outstanding CCAs, you predict that 60 of them are going to connect in 2010?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  I can get you the exact number.  It is 60-some.  It might be 62.  I will get you the exact number in a moment.

MR. FAYE:  Then there might be some more that occur through the FIT program and that are fast-tracked enough that they actually get on –- get on it and build it in 2010.  That makes up the total 540?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.  The 540 would be over and above.  Like the FIT program fast track would be -- potentially there may be some overlap with RESOP contracts.  We're not sure.  It depends on what people are willing to do in terms of up trying to upgrade to a FIT contract.  Generally speaking, we would expect people to be putting forward new projects under FIT that were not there under RESOP, did not have RESOP contracts.  And some of those may be ready to go quickly.

MR. FAYE:  Good.  That's the 740 additional megawatts that you mentioned to Mr. Warren, right?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  Yes, it is.

MR. FAYE:  Now, can I ask you:  The types of projects that are being proposed, are they a mixture of wind, solar, hydro?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, they are.


MR. FAYE:  Does one form of energy predominate over another?

MR. CURTIS:  At the moment, the solar projects dominate.

MR. GRAHAM:  Actually, I think we should be careful, because there are no verified numbers available from the OPA with respect to what the technology -- what the actual projects are that have applied, and then they have to go through a sorting process to determine who actually gets capacity allocation.

So it is true that I think wind and solar have been predominant, probably will be predominant, but that is speculation until we see those official results.

MR. FAYE:  Of the projects that have been connected, the 39 projects that you have mentioned, how many of those were wind projects, for instance?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm sorry, I don't have that number, but we could get it for you.

MR. FAYE:  Round house guess?

MR. GRAHAM:  Probably -- this is really speculation.  I would guess that more than half are wind, but that's just a guess.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  How long does it take to get your typical wind farm up and running?

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Faye, there's been a couple of questions that the witness has indicated they would get the numbers, but hasn't given us one.  So should we take an undertaking on that?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  I think Mr. Rogers noted that might be more helpful so we get the exact number on the record.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.3 could be the number of the 19 -- or is it, sorry, 39 or 19 RESOP contracts that are wind contracts?

MR. GRAHAM:  Thirty-nine projects that have been connected.

MR. MILLAR:  And the percentage -- actually, the number of those that are wind.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF 39 RESOP PROJECTS INTO POWER SOURCE.

MR. MILLAR:  There was another one, as well, Mr. Faye.  What was it?

MR. ROGERS:  I think it was a breakdown.

MR. FAYE:  If they could break them down between wind, solar and hydro, biomass, into whatever logical categories they have.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J1.3.

MR. FAYE:  So where I wanted to go next is your experience with those wind contracts.  These are the -- these are the projects that tended to be a little bit smaller, if I understood you right; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, on average that's true.  They would not necessarily all be in that, because that number you quoted was a division, so it is an average number.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if we talk about a solar project -- or wind project, sorry, of 4 megawatts, is that a reasonable project to be talking about?

MR. GRAHAM:  My experience would indicate to me that the wind projects tend to be larger than that.

MR. FAYE:  Ten?

MR. GRAHAM:  Up to ten.

MR. FAYE:  How long does it take for 10 megawatt wind project to get built?

MR. GRAHAM:  I mean, I have some experience, but you are really asking me about something that is outside of my expertise.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Does anyone on the panel have experience?  From the time the connection cost agreement is signed and the generator decides to build, when does the connection actually get made?  Is there any monitoring of that date?

MR. GRAHAM:  To answer your question with respect to monitoring, we would come to an agreement with the generation proponent and it would certainly be monitored by both ourselves and the proponent with respect to achieving that.

The connection timing also may not actually reflect itself back to how long it takes the project to get built, depending when they contract with us and how they manage that contract.

MR. FAYE:  So what I was trying to get at was there has to be a record in your distribution records of when you connect a customer, and that would be an indication of how long it took to build the project, wouldn't it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it would indicate how long the project took to get to in-service.  Now, because of the RESOP program and some of the issues that have come up with it with respect to financing, it would not necessarily reflect in terms of how long it took to build the project.

MR. FAYE:  Is there any other record keeping in Hydro One that gives you a good idea of the start date of their construction?  Do they make application for connection, for instance, before they put a shovel in the ground?

MR. GRAHAM:  They certainly make application for connection before they put a shovel in the ground, yes.

MR. FAYE:  So if you have an application for connection, that would be after the CCA is signed?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.  The application for connection I was interpreting as being an application for a connection impact assessment.

MR. FAYE:  No.  I mean an actual physical connection to the distribution system.

MR. GRAHAM:  So you're talking about, now -- that usually is incorporated in the CCA, which talks about the agreement with respect to what's planned to be done to connect you and what the payment requirements are.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Well, you have records, then, that tell you when the CCA was signed?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we would.

MR. FAYE:  You have records when the generator was connected?

MR. GRAHAM:  With some difficulty, yes.  That's monitored by our engineering and construction people or our lines people, depending on the voltage of the generator.  They would be monitoring that vis-à-vis what the expectations were.

MR. FAYE:  I'm simply asking:  Does your customer service system record when the customer first got connected to your system?

MR. GRAHAM:  In terms of when they start producing input, yes, they would do that.  In terms of production of input in the system, we would have that in our operating system.

MR. FAYE:  Would you be able to give us a brief summary that would give the Board an understanding of how long it takes to build a project of the 10-megawatt wind size from the time the CCA is signed to when that connection is actually made?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  In terms of subtraction, I'm assuming we could do something like that.

However, that does not -- just to take issue with your assertion, it doesn't necessarily reflect how long it takes to build the project.  There are a lot of other things that can go to how long the project takes from getting a CCA to going in-service.

MR. FAYE:  I agree with you.  I was using the time to build as a surrogate for how long does it take between the CCA and when the thing is actually producing power.


MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  That would seem to me to be a good surrogate, but maybe it's not.

MR. GRAHAM:  I would suggest it also reflects in terms of the program itself that people are looking to connect under, so the payments and the financing we talked about, and so on, to the extent that, for example, FIT enables projects to proceed more easily, then they can proceed quicker than they would have done under RESOP.

So history is not necessarily a guide for how long it will take to go in-service for new projects.

MR. FAYE:  It is a better guide than taking a wild guess; would you admit that?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is a piece of information; I admit that.

MR. FAYE:  Potentially a valuable piece of information to assess whether your estimate of 540 and 740 megawatts is actually going to be connected in 2010.  That would depend, to a large extent, wouldn't it, on whether these projects get built?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, I can speak to the 540, which is the RESOP numbers.  Those people would be available -- ready to connect now if they could go forward.

My understanding is, in terms of that number, that those are people who have contracted and we have schedules to connect on the way already.  So these are people that were not coming through the door new.  These were people that were going to connect as planned in 2010.

MR. FAYE:  And I think it would be interesting to know at what point in 2010 you can reasonably expect them to be connected, or does it take two years to build a wind farm?  I don't know these things.

Can you give us some sort of a brief summary of how long it took under the RESOP program, from the time a CCA was signed to the time the project was in-service?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I can certainly do that, because those are, as you mentioned earlier, milestones that we would have track of.

Again, my concern is the inference that that is how long it takes to build a project, which is not necessarily the case.

MR. FAYE:  And we would leave that for argument.  I am happy to have just the information that I asked for and --

MS. NOWINA:  Let's make clear what information you are asking for, then, Mr. Faye.  Are you asking for it on a project basis, an aggregate basis, an average basis?

MR. FAYE:  An aggregate basis would be fine, or average.  Average would be fine.  Of the 39 projects that got connected, what was the average length of time between the CCA signing and the project being in-service.

MS. NOWINA:  Can you do that, Mr. Graham?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe we can provide some information in that regard, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Let us look at it and we will try to provide the best information we can.  I think we understand the drift of the question.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's take an undertaking number.

MR. MILLAR:  That's undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE AVERAGE LENGTH OF TIME BETWEEN CCA SIGNING AND PROJECT BEING IN-SERVICE OF THE 39 CONNECTED PROJECTS.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  The next part I just want to enquire briefly about -- and I believe you have probably answered some of this already.

In our IR 63, if you could turn that up?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's 363?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, page 363.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have that.

MR. FAYE:  You make reference there, in answer to our part B, that Hydro One believes that recent amendments to the Distribution System Code for the generation connections process will facilitate getting generators to the stage where they will execute a connection agreement.

Could you elaborate on what those amendments to the DSC are that would get a generator to that point quicker?

MR. GRAHAM:  If you will give me a second to read the passage?  This is answer B, is it?

MR. FAYE:  That's right.  It's the last sentence of...

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  Well, specifically I think we're talking about the cost allocation and also the process, but primarily the cost allocation modifications that were made to the Code recently.


MR. FAYE:  Can you just briefly describe those?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, as I understand them, basically, it says renewable and enabling improvements, if they are deemed prudent by this Board, would be paid for ratepayers, and, further, that expansions that up to 90,000 per megawatt would be paid for by ratepayers.  Plus there is funding for things that previously would have had to be funded by the generators that is now funded by ratepayers.


MR. FAYE:  So looking back again at page 7 of your plan, that would go to improving the number of CIAs completed, translating into a connection cost agreement?  Is that --

MR. GRAHAM:  We would expect that, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  You are not suggesting, however, that amendments to the Code get a project from the connection cost agreement to in-service any better, are you?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, they don't go to, obviously, what it takes to build the project.  However, in terms of the ability to arrange financing and get that done in an expeditious manner, for example, that -- this could affect that.

MR. FAYE:  But most of those matters are at the connection cost agreement stage, are they not?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is what we're talking about here, actually.

MR. FAYE:  Yeah, and I think the question I asked was:   I can see your logic of getting from the CIA to the CCA quicker, because of amendments to the Code, but I am suggesting to you that you don't get from the CCA to the project being built any quicker by virtue of amendments to the Code, do you?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, one of the issues, I guess, that I would -- and this is speculative for me to say this, because I am not a generation developer -- but we have had projects that have told us that they have arranged some bridge financing, some interim financing, so they have been able to go forward on the CCA and tell us to start work, but then they have decided they need to hold because they have not been able to arrange their full financing.

So, for example, again just sticking with the financing example, it may be that this has eased that kind of burden from -- for some proponents.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I understand that.  That's fair.  I would like to just touch on one other aspect of this capital investment.  Do you have any kind of summary of how much capital investment Hydro One had to make to accommodate the 39 generation projects that have been connected under RESOP?

MR. SALT:  Yes.  In 2008 we spent a net amount of $3.9 million, and 8.5 is gross.  And again, 2009, 5.6, 15.1 gross.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  I would like to ask just a couple of questions on other aspects of the plan.

The smart grid components of the plan, I think they're -- they're beginning on page 16.  This is -- sorry, this might not necessarily be smart grid.  These are the modifications to your system that you anticipate making, and they might partly be relating to connecting a generator, they may partly be smart grid.  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Actually, these are all with relationship to connecting new generation.  These are expansions that are -- need to be built for new generation.  They're not the smart grid investments.

MR. FAYE:  If I could just ask a couple of questions on that.  When you talk about overbuilding an existing line to provide an additional circuit, is that for purposes of connecting the generator?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And would there be any other load on that circuit?

MR. SALT:  The overbuilding refers to construction of a new circuit that would supply the generator.

It wouldn't -- there wouldn't -- there wouldn't be other loads connected to the generation circuit.

MR. FAYE:  And so it would draw whatever power it needed for operations at the times it wasn't generating and it would export power along that line, not along the underbuilt line?

MR. SALT:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Right.  From that point of view, is that an express feeder?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And does it differ --

MR. SALT:  Just to expand on that, generally express feeders are dedicated to the generator or to a load customer, as the case may be, from the source, which is usually a transformer station, to the generator.

But a portion of it could be built just as an express to a generator.

MR. FAYE:  And is that overbuilt line different than the project cited at line 17, building new express feeders to connect renewable energy?

MR. SALT:  That's what I was trying to explain.

MR. FAYE:  That's the same thing as the overbuilding?

MR. SALT:  That's the same thing, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  At other places in the evidence -- and I can't give you a citation, but you will likely recognize it -- you have talked about the need to upgrade reclosers and other equipment, voltage regulators, in order to accommodate the generation?

MR. SALT:  Yeah.  That would be on page 20.

MR. FAYE:  Page 20.  For -- for a circuit that is overbuilt or an express feeder, do you still have to do that?

MR. SALT:  Yes.  We have divided the investments into two areas, one -- on page 16, and they generally describe providing what we referred to as capacity, but it is, you know, the large wires to handle generator connections.

And the other part is the REI, renewable energy investments, that -- renewable enabling investments, on page 20.  And those are generally referred to as protection control and telecom investments, that deal with control of the -- of our power system and, in particular, information on what -- what the generator is doing.

MR. FAYE:  So I take from that that if you have an express circuit, you would have these things that you list on page 20, bidirectional sensors and reclosers, those things would apply to that circuit, but you wouldn't necessarily have to change them for a circuit that didn't have a generator on it, right?

MR. SALT:  No.  That is not true.

We would -- may have to change some equipment on adjacent circuits as well, either for backup supplies or, for example, if we have to do load shedding, which is a, I think -- I believe it is an ISO requirement.  Because of the generators involved in the circuits now, we can't shed load on the entire subtransmission system, so we have to go down to a lower level, which would be at our distribution stations.

So if we have a generator on one distribution station, the adjacent stations would have to be equipped with load shedding, as well.

So the bottom line is that, yes, there's some spillover to adjacent stations.

MR. FAYE:  So do I understand, then, that all of your reclosers on stations that will be accepting generation, all of those would have to change, irregardless of whether the circuit is connected to the generator?

MR. SALT:  Possibly.  I wouldn't -- I don't want to say they always have to be done.  I am saying that there are situations where we may have to do that.

MR. FAYE:  I guess what I am getting at is:  Are you planning to do that?

MR. SALT:  In some cases, yes.  Yeah.

MR. FAYE:  I wanted to ask you about your smart zone on page 29 of the document.

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  At the top of the page, there's some examples of the sorts of things that you are planning to study there.

One of them stands out at me, energy storage.  Could you give us an understanding of what energy storage is going to be?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  Energy storage is a manner in terms of being able to store electricity, and so, for example, batteries would be an example of -- of energy storage.

MR. FAYE:  Are there other possible examples?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  One would be hydro.  Fuel cells would be another option, in terms of energy storage.

MR. FAYE:  Now, I think somewhere else in this document, you said you're not intending to get into the generation business?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Renewable generation.  But I wonder how do you distinguish between power use stored and released into the grid at some other time from generation?

MR. CURTIS:  I know that some people would say that that was generation.

I think our view of this, though, is that this would be more in terms of energy storage, and it's really for the purposes of optimizing or improving upon system operation, as opposed to what generation generally is aimed at is producing the megawatts or megawatt hours, in terms of electrical energy.

We are looking at storage more from the perspective of being able to optimize the performance of the system.  As an example, wind generation operates on an intermittent basis, and so the output from a wind generator fluctuates in terms of when the wind is blowing.

If you had electrical storage, say, for example, in the form of a battery, that would be a method in terms of smoothing the output from that combination back out onto the system and, therefore, improving upon the quality of electricity, then, that is provided to our customers.

MR. FAYE:  I wonder that a generator, a wind generator, might not be the better place to have that kind of storage capacity.  Would they not be more interested than you?

MR. CURTIS:  They haven't indicated their interest in terms of pursuing this, because this represents additional costs to them, and it doesn't necessarily mean that they would get higher prices for the commodity, which is how they actually earn their money in terms of the FIT contracts.

MR. FAYE:  And I think that is the very place I was going, that they're receiving some sort of flat rate for their output. It doesn't matter when it is generated during the day; am I right there?

MR. CURTIS:  That --

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So if you store their flat rate output, and then release it into the grid at peak times, does Hydro One stand to make money on that deal?

MR. GRAHAM:  Not right now.

MR. FAYE:  Potentially in the future?

MR. GRAHAM:  We don't have any plans in that regard, but it is always possible.  It depends on how the market evolves.

MR. FAYE:  Let me take a slightly different tack on that same question.  I believe somewhere else in the evidence there's mention that storage of intermittent energy would be very beneficial to offset diesel generation in remote communities.

Do you recall that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  I think that is generally true.

MR. FAYE:  And I ask you, again:  Why is it not Hydro One Remotes looking into that?  Why is it Hydro One Networks?

MR. CURTIS:  In that particular application that you just cited, Hydro One Remotes is looking into that.

MR. FAYE:  But I take it from the fact that that is cited in the evidence, that the costs of doing this research project are being borne by Hydro One.  Are you saying that you are charging them back to Remotes?

MR. CURTIS:  No.  No, we're not.  They are being absorbed within Hydro One.

MR. FAYE:  I ask:  Why would your customers want to pay for that, if it was for an outside company?

MR. CURTIS:  Because it has two -- again, it has two applications.

It has the application that we were just talking about in terms of the smart zone, but it also has the potential application in terms of remote communities.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I think that is something that can be addressed in argument, as well.

The last brief area I wanted to touch on concerns Energy Probe 75.  That's H-3-75.

Turn that up and let me know when you have it.

Do you have that?

MR. GRAHAM:  We have it.

MR. FAYE:  This IR asked about the basis for the 15 percent imputed benefit to customers of the cost of connection of generators.

If I've got this right, 15 percent of the costs to connect the generator is going to be charge charged into your general rates, because there's some benefit to your customers for an upgraded line; is that a fair summary?

MR. SALT:  Sure, yes.

MR. FAYE:  And going a little bit further, the benefit actually applies, because when you rebuild a line with new poles, the life of that line is extended; is that right?

MR. SALT:  That's one way to word it.  The way we were looking at it is we have -- we know that at some point in the future, and we can predict fairly accurately when, we will have to replace a pole.  So we were calculating what the benefit is to us to replace that pole early.

And one way to phrase it is the extended life of the pole.

MR. FAYE:  The concept sort of confuses me, because I would have thought that there was a cost involved, not a benefit.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Faye, just so I understand where you are going with this, is this related to the subject that we've hived off until after Christmas to do with the division of the -- the allocation of Hydro One's costs to the ratepayers of Ontario and the ratepayers of Hydro One?

MR. FAYE:  It does to some extent, Madam Chair.  That is the global adjustment proposal versus the direct charging, and this does touch on that.  If you would like to leave it until after Christmas, I would be happy to do so.

MS. NOWINA:  I think that's where we probably will get into the 15 percent discussion.

MR. FAYE:  All right, panel.  I think that is all of my questions.  Thank you.

Thank you, Madam Chair.
Procedural Matters:


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

I would like to stop and do a check of time remaining for this panel before we break and before we take the rest of the afternoon session, because I know at the end of the day everyone is eager to run away, and then I won't have time for the discussion.  And it might give you a chance to think about it over break.

Board Staff has talked to you, I think, about your estimates of how much time you will take in cross-examination for each panel.  We do have estimates for this panel, but, Mr. Faye, I didn't have you on the list, so you hadn't gotten into my calculations.

I would encourage everyone to give their estimates to Board Staff for panel 2 so that we can manage the hearing and we know exactly how long that is going to take, and for the other panels as you get a clearer idea of that.

So going back to panel 1, we still have not heard from VECC, Schools, ECAO, GEC, and those are the only ones that I have on my list who wished to cross-examine this panel further -- CME.  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, I do have you on my list.  Mr. Poch?

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Crocker, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  I don't have an estimate for you, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  We gave it.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Your estimate is?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, I believe it was two hours.  It won't be that long.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So I will put you down for one.

Anyone else that I didn't mention?  Okay, thank you very much.  Maybe we will take our afternoon break now.  Who would like to be up after our afternoon break, which would give that remaining person an hour and a half or so before the end of the day?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to volunteer.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro has his hand up, and, Mr. Thompson, you look reluctant, but I will go with either one of you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mine is about 45 minutes, so it won't take up the whole afternoon.

MS. NOWINA:  You, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think I would be less than my initial estimate because of what has passed, but I think, in fairness, I should just wait to see what response I get to the list of pages that I have left.

MS. NOWINA:  You might rather wait until tomorrow?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  There are not many pages there, so I am hoping...


MR. CROCKER:  We could move down to the real world and do it, if anybody wanted?

MS. NOWINA:  I will let you sort it out over break and whoever wins the arm wrestle can start after break.

We will take a 15-minute break.

--- Recess taken at 2:39 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:03 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Mr. Buonaguro, you drew the short straw, and they made you turn into Board Staff.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I fought long and hard for the right to go next.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  Before my friend commences, can I -- can I answer a couple of undertakings which we have been able to do by telephone?

MS. NOWINA:  Sure.  All right.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Undertaking J-1.1 was this question:
"In 2009, was the double-return program available for all customer classes?"

Answer:  No.  The 2009 program is available only to distribution interval metered customers and transmission customers.

The next undertaking, J-1.2, question:
"Are there any studies in Ontario" -- I'm sorry -- "any studies in Hydro One considering the merits of increasing the incentives for the double-returns program?"

Answer:  No.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  So I have been striking some stuff and I am going to try not to repeat what's been asked you of already, but I do have some clarification questions in some areas you have already gone over.

And you will see I have taken over the AV system because, not that I don't trust Board Staff, but I have my own notes in my own computer file here that I would like to put up on the monitors.

So I am going to start with Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, just as a reference for the discussion about the 3,500 megawatts of renewable energy generation which Hydro Distribution -- Hydro One Distribution is forecasting could seek connection by 2011.

And I wanted to ask you some questions about that.

On this same page -- and I can increase the size -- there is a discussion about that forecast and it's -- the forecast is attributed largely to interest in the OPA's new FIT program, which you talked about today already.

We wanted to clarify whether, when you refer to the FIT program in this portion and specifically to the 3,500 megawatts, are you talking just of the FIT program, or the FIT program plus the micro-FIT program as contributing towards the 3,500 megawatts?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it would be fair to assume that we're talking about both, Mr. Buonaguro.  There would not be many megawatts, based on our current forecast, from micro-FIT.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So can you give an estimate?  Of the 3,500-megawatt projection that you are talking about in the evidence, how much of that would -- subset would be micro-FIT projects?

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I can take you to D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 11, you will see there there's a table 3 of generation connections in the small, and that is less than 500 kilowatts, which would include micro-FIT.  But it would also include the other capacity allocation-exempt projects, so it would be a larger number than the micro-FIT expectation.  It is 30 in each year in this forecast.

So if that is the case, then micro-FIT would be less than 30, according to this forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So of the 3,500, less than 30 megawatts --

MR. GRAHAM:  Less than.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Per the two years, so 60 megawatts?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is actually less than 30 connections in each year, so 60 connections --

MR. BUANAGURO:  Sorry.  Less than --

MR. GRAHAM:  -- times 10 kilowatts, so you're talking about 600 kilowatts, based on this forecast, maximum.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I think, going to D1, tab 3, schedule 3 --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes?

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Buonaguro, I can just -- I'm sorry.  I am just reading the footnote to my evidence, which says "excludes microgenerators" which are generators that are smaller than 10 kilowatts.  My mistake.

MR. BUONOGARU:  That's -- that is what I put on the panel here.  So it's D1, tab 3 --

MR. GRAHAM:  So the answer would be:  I don't know.

MR. BUONOGARU:  Okay.  So we will talk about that in conjunction with this.  So this cite I have just pus up here is D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 11, which I think is the same one you just referred to.  And you were telling me that the micro-FITs would be somewhere in here, but as you point out, the footnote says that this excludes the micro-FIT program.

So when I asked the question of the 3,500 megawatts, how much of it is attributable to micro-FIT, you can't tell me that off the top of your head?

MR. GRAHAM:  I can't.  And to be honest, in terms of megawatts and expectations for the work that has to do with the connection, it is really immaterial, because these would be small generators at individual commercial sites and so on.  So typically the connection is going to be primarily connection work.  It is not going to require enhancement or REI work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So in terms of megawatts, it is included in the 3,500, but probably only because it is immaterial?

MR. GRAHAM:  Subject to checking with my friends, that would be fair to say.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then you mentioned a number of connections that would represent -- sorry.  You sort of mentioned the 30 connections, micro-FIT connections per year over the two years, I think, but I think you are saying that is not in here.

Do you have an estimate of or a forecast of how many micro-FIT connections you are anticipating?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't have that, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Now, I think you touched on this, sort of, or it's been touched upon, this sort of analysis, but --

MR. SALT:  Excuse me.  If I can just make a correction to the micro-FIT?

MR. BUONOGARU:  Sure.

MR. SALT:  I think if you look at H-1-54, I believe that they are forecasting 3,600 micro-FIT.  And there are less than 10 kilowatts.  That would be less than 36 megawatts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's interesting.  So this was --  H-1-54 was an interrogatory of Board Staff, and I actually did pick up in there that -- and you see I have highlighted here -- that you were using an assumption of 3,600 micro-FIT contract contracts.  Is that what you're talking about?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And what was that assumption based on?

MR. SALT:  I'm sorry.  I don't have that information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that something you can provide by way of undertaking?

MR. CURTIS:  I think we can look into that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed that panel 3 would have the answer to that question, if it can wait.  It would just save me doing an undertaking.  That's all.

MR. BUONOGURU:  Well, let me -- let me just explore this for a second, because -- so you have pointed me to this interrogatory response, in terms of the forecast for micro-FIT, and I hadn't actually planned on asking you about this, but looking at the highlighted paragraph that I have pulled from this H-1-54, it says:

"In customer care's planning assumptions, it was assumed there would be 130 FIT contracts annually and 3,600 micro-FIT contracts annually."

So I think I would like the more general undertaking, what underpinned those particular assumptions for this particular purpose for both the FIT and the micro-FIT contracts.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes.  We will undertake to do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO ADVISE What underpinned those particular assumptions for this particular purpose for both the FIT and the micro-FIT contracts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then I am just going to go back to D1, tab 3, schedule 3, 11 of 24, and I am going to blow up table 3.  And if we are looking at the numbers of connections here, you have talked about this already today, but my understanding is that if we're looking at 2009/2010 and you have a total number of connections there, divided by large, midsize and small, are these all of the connections that represent the 3,500 kilowatt -- or megawatts that you are forecasting?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, they are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  My understanding from the earlier discussion is that part of that -- so for example, we'll actually go specifically to 2010.  Or -- sorry.  Well, yeah, 2010.  You have two plus 132 plus 30.  Part of that are projects that are -- is it RESOP-associated?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, they are.  We were discussing that earlier today, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Sorry.  And part of that is -- is your forecast of what projects will come in under the FIT program?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


Now, I am going to take you to Board staff IR No. 146.  Actually, just a quick question, and before I do, we talked about the Undertaking H-1-54, and it had a forecast of 130 FITs, FIT projects or FIT contracts, for the purposes of customer care planning, and I have asked an undertaking about that.

Is that 130 contract number the same, or does that appear in your forecasts under table 3 which we were just looking at?

MR. CURTIS:  I think nominally it does.  In terms of the actual megawatt quantities, I think, as we have talked about, this is -- represents a very small amount.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, I am misunderstanding.  Let me just pull you back.  H-1-54 talks about 130 FIT contracts annually, and then if we go to -- that is -- I think if you read the whole interrogatory response, it is talking about the revenue requirement projections over the test year.  So that would be 2010 and 2011, which I am assuming you're assuming for the purposes of planning 130 FIT contracts in 2010 and 130 FIT contracts in 2011.

Then you have given me an undertaking to look at where the assumption came from.

Then I am going back to table 3 --

MR. CURTIS:  I think before you leave that --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. CURTIS:  -- the 130, I think if that references back to what we have in Exhibit D1, tab 3, 33 of that table.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  That would be the 32 that is on that table in 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So how does that work?  You are assuming 130 FIT contracts for 2010, and then you are looking at the generation context in 2010.  You're saying that that 130 produces 32 actual connections in 2010?

MR. CURTIS:  No.  I think that produces about 130, 132 connections in 2010, yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it would be fair to say, Mr. Buonaguro, without letting this go further, that is a planning assumption that was used in the customer care area to figure out what they would need to do in terms of preparing for billing and payments, and so on.

That would be roughly analogous to this, but it is a basic assumption they would use.  This is more of the assumption we used in terms of coming up with the capital amounts.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So pending the results from the undertaking, you're telling me they may have -- they're doing their own forecasting at the same time you are doing forecasting for generation connection purposes?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know exactly where the 130 that will be in the undertaking comes from.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine, thank you.

So I was going to take you now to Exhibit H-1-46.  And you were asked by Board Staff about the areas of the province which will have -- or that 3,500 megawatts will be distributed to, like, by region.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you indicated, and I am paraphrasing, that you do not have a detailed forecast of generation connection by region by megawatt, but you provided some information on how you thought the proportion of applications would be distributed across the province?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So from that, I am assuming or I think it is fair to say that you don't know either the exact number of megawatts or where the generators that are going to be producing those megawatts are going to be located over the next two years, over the test period?

MR. CURTIS:  I think what we were saying here is that we don't know what the results will be specifically for the FIT program, in terms of where these generators could come from.

However, in light of the CIAs and CCRAs that we talked about earlier, we know where those are, and this reflects that distribution, these percentages here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I guess put another way, the 3,500 and the distribution of that 3,500 across the province are both theoretical, pending actual contracts?

MR. CURTIS:  No, I would not say theoretical.  Again, they're based on the CIA applications, which are specific in terms of where their location is, because the CIA, by its very nature, is an evaluation about what the implications are to connection in the local distribution system.  So for those, we do know where they're located.

The point, though, is that we don't know specifically which of those are going to come about as a result of the FIT program.  So what we have provided here is the regional distribution of the 3,500 megawatts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am a little confused, because when you describe it that way, it sounds like you could list off a list of projects located across the province with specific megawatts associated with them to build the 3,500 over the next two years.  That's what it -- it sounds to me like you have that information, but from what I have heard today, you don't have that information.

What you have is a number of applications, and, from that, you are projecting what might happen over the next two years?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

MR. CURTIS:  However, again, for all of these, we do have information on where they would be located.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If they're approved and they go through?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Would you agree that there's a higher degree of uncertainty regarding the number of new generator connections or installations over the next two years than the uncertainty associated with the number of load customers that are likely to connect in the next two years?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think for our connections which -- if we're looking at the number of connections of load customers, there is a lot of residential customers that are connected.  Because we have significant history and significant understanding of that, there's probably more uncertainty around the generators which tends to be more -- larger and more specific.

I think the uncertainty would be a little more like, for example, large commercial customers, industrial customers along the distribution system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

MR. GRAHAM:  Having said that, I should add one more time, and I know I said it before, the FIT contracts, we are anticipating that applicants that come through that process are going to have a lot of security on the line, are going to have a lot of information, are going to have their financing available and are going to have a high degree of likelihood of going forward.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, on pages 15 to 16 of the Green Energy Plan -- and I will pull it up.  So that is Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.  I have just pulled up page 15 for reference.  You set out the forecast capital costs for connection assets and for expansion work.

I am just bringing it up so you can see where I am thinking of.  Would it be fair to say that you can't accurately forecast the connection or expansion costs until you know where those megawatts are coming from?

MR. CURTIS:  I would disagree with that.  This is done on an aggregated basis, and, on aggregate, it will be a very good estimate in terms of how much the cost is going to be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying it doesn't matter where in the province these megawatts are situated or what mix of actual generators there are over the test period.

You can accurately forecast how much it's going to cost to connect them?

MR. CURTIS:  Again, on an aggregated basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Would it be fair to say that until you know more about precisely where the megawatts are going to be located and specific details required from the generators, there will be some uncertainty regarding the connection costs?

MR. CURTIS:  I think that is a fair characterization, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Consumers Council of Canada asked you an IR - and this is Exhibit H, tab 9 schedule 30 - basically about who pays for what in terms of connecting.  And we just had one bit of follow-up questions on that.

Can you confirm who owns the meter on a generator and who is responsible for its maintenance and replacement?

MR. GRAHAM:  Subject to check, I believe Hydro One owns it, but the proponent is responsible for paying for it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that means that the meter is included in the connection capital costs charged to -- or recovered from the generator?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that would be the case, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in calculating that contribution cost, is there any allowance made to cover off the maintenance costs or future replacement of the meter?

MR. GRAHAM:  I honestly don't know.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there another panel I should be asking?

MR. SALT:  No, there isn't.  I can answer that question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, good.  Great.

MR. SALT:  I will confirm the meters are included in the capital cost.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then the second part of that was:  Is the future -- when you are calculating the cost that is included in the capital contribution, do you account for the future maintenance cost or the future replacement of the meter?

MR. SALT:  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And is that, I guess, capital contribution policy with respect to meters consistent across generators regardless of size?  So would it apply to micro-FIT and FIT generators, for example?


MR. SALT:  Yeah.  The replace -- the maintenance of the meter would come under an OM&A cost, and I know we haven't allowed any OM&A cost for this.

And I don't believe that maintenance on meters is actually of any significance.  In fact, I am not aware that we do any maintenance on meters, other than for the larger three-phase ones, I believe we have to do some type of inspection on a three-year cycle.  That's it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But because I think I have to assume, then, though, it is implicit that because you don't separately account for those costs as part of the capital contribution, that they're included in the basic O&M for -- that is paid for by the rest of the system?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am going to turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 16 and 17.  This is talking about the targeted enhancements.

Now, my understanding is that --

MR. GRAHAM:  If we could have a moment, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Sure.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Sorry.  I understand that you probably want to use your own documents and flip them.  I'm sorry.  Sometimes I tend to rush ahead.

My understanding is that in the context of the Green Energy Plan, that target enhancements are all expansion costs; is that correct?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And on page 16 of this exhibit, and I have highlighted down at the bottom, you're talking about doing an analysis to determine the types of enhancements that could be undertaken, but that specifically what enhancement will be undertaken will only be determined once more information is available on the response to the FIT program.

And that -- that is paraphrasing page 16 and 17, over the top there.

Now, based on that, would it be fair to characterize the investments in the current Green Energy Plan with respect to targeted enhancements as a placeholder until more information is available?

MR. SALT:  Well, again, like the other programs we have looked at, what we expect to happen -- and I have put together what we expect the investments will look like, and we believe this is a fairly representative estimate of the cost.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, for example, and I have gone back to page 16 here, at line 16, it talks here about 360 kilometres of new line.  You don't know for certain that that is a cost that is going to be undertaken by Hydro One over the next years.  My understanding is that that is an estimate based on past experience, that will be updated as more information is available.

MR. SALT:  Well, certainly it will be updated as we get better information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I am going to turn -- ask you to turn up Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 22, and this is a VECC interrogatory.  And we asked you for details on where the renewable enabling improvements would be taking place and precisely what the investments would be.

I have just pulled up the answer here, but I think it is a fair paraphrasing of the answer that you indicate that the spending estimates were based on a system-wide analysis to determine the modifications required.  And what I am putting to you is whether it would be fair to say that the investments that you are showing in the plan are actually placeholders, because precisely what modifications will be needed, for example, how many distributing stations would need to be upgraded will only be known after the FIT program's response is known.

MR. SALT:  Well, similar to the previous answer, we've looked at our system, and the response that we expect from FIT, and identified what we believe we have to do to -- in the area of renewable enabling investments.

And we believe we have a fairly good understanding of what we have to do and the volumes.  And we know, from previous experience, what the cost will be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me see if I can paraphrase that.  It sounds like you're saying:  We know what we could do over the test period, and we know technically which ones would qualify for that type of spending.  And you have an estimate of how much of that you will be doing over the next two years, but precisely what you will be doing in the next two years, you can't say right now, for various reasons.  But that you are -- based on knowing what could be done and how much you think you are going to do, you are creating an amount applied for in approval in the plan.

MR. SALT:  I think we are both saying the same thing, but I just want to make sure we're both clear.

We know what -- we have a reasonable expectation what will happen with the FIT and we have a reasonable expectation of what work we'll have to undertake in response to that, and we have good estimates on what the unit cost will be of that type of work.

So we are fairly confident we know what this is going to cost, but certainly we can't commit to absolute specific projects until the FIT program -- until we see the results of the FIT program.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, this is more of a general question.  I think you stated in the opening that Hydro One Networks is asking for approval of the Green Energy Plan; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  Sorry, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would you agree that one of the implications of an approval would be that the proposed OM&A and capital spending for 2010 and 2011 would be included in the determination of the revenue requirements in rates Hydro One is currently seeking approval for, for those years?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be fair, noting that part of what we're looking for approval would be recovered from province-wide customers, as opposed to -- assuming Board finds so in the January proceeding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  With that caveat, you're looking for revenue requirement inclusion for 2010 and 2011?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then -- but looking at the Green Energy Plan, it includes program activities and aggregate spending levels for the 2012 to 2014 period; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at CME No. 12, Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 12.

MR. GRAHAM:  I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We noticed that when you're talking about approval of the program activities in the plan, you only mention the costs for the 2010 and 2011 period.  And we wanted to know if you could clarify to what degree you're seeking approval for the components of the plan beyond 2011.

MR. GRAHAM:  My understanding is that we expect to come back with respect to a submission on rates for 2012 and beyond, so that we're really only seeking recovery in rates in the revenue requirement for the first two years of the process.

That -- and that the Board had asked for five years in terms of their filing, their deemed conditions of licence.  So that's why we provided the five-year information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to be careful in how I take that.

Does that mean when you come forward for 2012, 2013, 2014 rates, whoever -- however and whenever you do it, and when it comes to the rate impacts of the Green Energy Plan as it exists then, it will be a hearing de novo on the issue of whether those program activities should be approved?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I am not a lawyer --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I threw in some Greek.  Sorry.


MR. GRAHAM:  You are going to have to tell me what a hearing de novo is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I am suggesting to you is that the inclusion of the 2012, 2013 and 2014 years in program activities and such here, in this plan, which you're asking for approval from -- which you are asking approval for, won't impact on the process in 2012, 2013, 2014.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I help?  I don't think it is the intent that the Board's hands be tied with respect to dealing with that period of time, if that is what Mr. Buonaguro is asking.

The company would like approval of its Green Energy Plan.  It is seeking recovery of the costs that fall into 2010 and 2011, but it does not ask this Board to approve costs beyond that period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  For inclusion in rates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that there is maybe a gap there still.  Maybe I can close it.  Does that mean that -- I mean, there are activities in the plan for 2012, 2013 and 2014.  I understand the company is not asking for rate relief related to those activities.

But insofar as the plan is approved, is it the company's position that those activities in those years are approved as part of an overall plan, and, therefore, the only question coming in these years would be the rate impacts, or will the activities themselves still be subject to the Board's approval outside of the approval that's granted in this plan?

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, it is my expectation that the company will be back for the period beyond what it is now seeking rate relief for, and at that time it would be my expectation that it would update its Green Energy Plan, having regard for the considerable experience it will have gained in the interim.

So we are not asking the Board to stamp for all time the expenditures beyond the test period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think that answers my question.

Now, there is mention obviously in the Green Energy Plan, as filed, of the Board's June 16th, 2009 guidelines in G-2009-0087, and I think you characterized the plan as a filing pursuant to those guidelines.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  We were aware of the guidelines and tried to respond to them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to put up on the screen -- I don't have paper copies, but I can provide them to the Board, if necessary.  But page 8 of those guidelines talk about the funding adder process for Green Energy Plan expenditures.  Are you --

MR. GRAHAM:  I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You have it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I thought you might.  You are aware of these particular guidelines with respect to the funding adders?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I am.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And this is similar to something that Mr. Warren asked you this morning, but it wasn't specifically in the context I think of this guideline, which actually sets up a funding adder and deferral account system for specifically the types of costs that you are asking for in this proceeding.

Specific to I guess the Board's guidelines, how come or why does the Board -- why does it appear, to me at least, that Hydro One doesn't think that this process is appropriate for it?  Why wouldn't it be appropriate to (a) get a funding adder based on your plan, and then (b) have a deferral account system in place for variations from the plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, if I might have a minute, Mr. Buonaguro, there's a few things, and some of them I mentioned before.  But in the deemed conditions of licence, the OEB I think indicated that it understands the distributors might need to seek approval of a plan because of the substance of that plan.

Hydro One notes its investments, as you have mentioned, under the Green Energy Plan total, you know, very significant amounts of money for the rate years of 2010 and 2011.

We are also expecting to make substantial investments in distribution related to the Green Energy Plan over 2012 to 2014, as we have just discussed.  And, further, we expect to be bringing forward major transmission projects, which add up to several billions of dollars if they all go forward.

Therefore, as mentioned this morning, our CFO is going to be on panel 2 to explain the company's need for a return and for assurance with respect to the costs being covered such that we can continue to get our debt.

The plan articulates, I think, to the best of our ability, based on current information, what we think the longer-term outlook is, and it provides five years of information as best we can.

And we have looked at the RESOP information, the information from the OPA regarding transmission transfer constraints and the previously outlined information regarding the generation connection.

So, basically, we think overall that plan represents a reasonable forecast for the period, and we feel it should be recovered in -- recoverable in rates to give us assurance such that we can continue to raise money.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you said two things specifically I would like to follow up on.  One, you talked about a concern about being able to cover the spending that is in the plan.  And, two, you talked about being -- just at the end there, you were talking about being able to recover in rates what you're spending.

What I don't understand is, the risk that you appear to be proposing, you are trying to avoid by embedding these amounts in rates rather than reducing the funding adder approach and a deferral account accompanying that funding adder approach.

How is it that using a funding adder, and then having a deferral account to track exactly what you spend, and have that included in rates, subject obviously to I guess a prudence review -- how is that putting you at risk of not being able to recover, when embedding it in rates means you could either grossly under recover or grossly over recover those amounts?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think I understand your question.

Again, I would refer, first off, to our CFO on panel 2, because he is going to talk about the cash needs, but with respect to my understanding of the risks that investors in the company, particularly bond investors/debt investors, would see, they're looking for a lot of assurance with respect to the ongoing -- not just the two years, but the ongoing recoverability of these costs.

And my understanding is that getting those in rates just gives them that additional assurance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is this a topic I can pursue with the CFO?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe he will be prepared to talk about that, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I can confirm that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I think it might be useful to do that.  Thank you.

Now, on the same topic, however, Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 25 is a School Energy Coalition interrogatory, and I will pull it up for you.  Basically, it just asks you to --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, for some reason I don't have that one, so just a second.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am looking at part two of your response.  It is on the screen if you would like to peek there.  Oh, wait a second.  Sorry, that is the wrong one.

MR. GRAHAM:  You are looking at a different schedule.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  There is one good reason to do this.  You know when I am looking at the wrong thing.

Sorry, you were asked to calculate the funding adder that would be appropriate, in the view of the applicant, if the Board's funding guidelines were to be followed.

Basically you said, because that is not your plan, you weren't going to do the calculation.

All I am asking for is whether you would do that calculation in the event the Board thinks otherwise; i.e., could you identify what the funding adder would be if the costs for the Green Energy Plan, if approved, were recovered through funding adder?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, of course.  If the Board ordered that, the company would do it.

Mr. Struthers will be able to answer questions about this whole topic, but, of course, we would follow the Board's direction.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it is slightly different than that, whether the Board orders it in the end.  What I am asking for is the number now so that I can use it in argument.

MR. ROGERS:  Can we take it under advisement and ask Mr. Struthers when he is here on panel 2, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  I'm okay with that.

I am looking at Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 24, part E.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, did you say H-7, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  H-7, tab 7, schedule 24, 3 of 3.  I've got the right one this time.

This has to do with smart grid spending; part E does.

And you confirm here that you are including $5 million in 2010 and 2011 for research and development activities; do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We were just looking at the Board's guidelines, and I will pull up page 7, which I am sure you are aware of.

This is a section on the smart grid development.  I have highlighted a part at the bottom there, which says:
"In addition, the Board does not expect distributors to be engaging in research and development activities related to smart grid development at this time."

I was wondering if you could talk about why, in the face of this direction from the Board in the guidelines, there's $5 million included in the request for 2010 and 2011 for research and development?

MR. CURTIS:  The expenditures in this particular area are to assist us in terms of being able to evaluate the results coming out of the smart zone part of the smart grid investment that we're making.

And so we are -- we are going to have to undertake those investments in any case.  Perhaps it's a distinction in terms of what we're talking about as R&D activities.

This activity that we're describing is more in line with being able to properly evaluate the -- the results that we're going to get in the smart zone, as opposed to pure R&D, you know, looking at brand new technologies or looking at brand new investment.

So I think perhaps what we're talking about here is just a difference in terms of the definition of R&D.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now when you say -- not to get too literal with your words -- but you mentioned the word "perhaps", as though that might be an explanation for why there is $5 million in, despite what the guidelines talks about in terms of research and development.

Can you say with any certainty that the $5 million that is labelled as research and development is something that you would think is properly characterized as, I guess, quote/unquote, allowed in the guidelines as opposed to excluded in accordance with this direction?

MR. CURTIS:  We think that it is properly allowed within the guidelines that are laid out.  But obviously, what we have, in terms of the guidelines, is the Board saying that they don't expect distributors to be engaging in research and development investment at this time.

So it would be the Board that would determine whether what we're characterizing here is that sort of research and development that they had in mind.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of the -- that amount, is that interrogatory response the only clear description of that amount, and it is being labelled research and development?  Is there somewhere else I should be looking to, to give me a better definition of what that $5 million represents and how it may be related to, I guess you would call it, the smart zone?

MR. CURTIS:  I believe there was a further explanation in terms of what we were characterizing as smart grid, but I don't have it right at my fingertips at the moment, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just don't want to leave it that just because it happened to be in one interrogatory referred to as research and development, that it is going to be possibly be excluded.  I would like to give you the opportunity to -- to pin down what that money represents.

MR. ROGERS:  May I suggest Mr. Rick Stevens on panel 3 is really the expert on smart meters, and he is coming in and I'm sure he'll be able to answer your questions -- smart grid, rather.  He will be able to answer your questions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So maybe I will leave it till then.  That's good.  Thank you.

Let me ask you to pull up -- well, I am going to pull up Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, page 15, which we have looked at before.

And we note here that the capital part of the Green Energy Plan includes the cost of connection assets, which are -- including that which are fully funded by the generators; correct?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And to the extent that any of these new connections require connection assessments, can you tell me whether there is an OM&A cost separate from what is included here?  Or is it included in the capital cost?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is included in OM&A and it is also recoverable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So is it included -- so if I go to page 14 of this same exhibit, I guess, is your forecast for connection assessments included in these OM&A costs?

MR. GRAHAM:  No, it wouldn't be.  Effectively because it is recoverable net zero, it doesn't have any impact on the rate filing, so it is really not shown here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it is not put in and then taken out?  It is just a wash from the beginning; is that one way to put it?

MR. GRAHAM:  This is an area I don't have expertise in.  It may be in external revenues, in which case the OM&A costs, the gross would show in OM&A, and then the external revenues would net it out.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

One last question, and this is more of a clarification.  Exhibit H, tab 4, schedules 1, 2 and 3, I believe these are Pollution Probe interrogatories.  And I am not going to turn them up.  It's just those are -- those three schedules are, I believe, are the 2006, '7 and '8 annual CDM reports?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, they are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And --

MR. CURTIS:  The results.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The results?  Sorry.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that the kilowatt-hour savings reported in those three reports for the various initiatives are based on the OEB's published input assumptions for various measures, as set out in the October 2006 TRC guide?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I am going to assume that you are aware that as of January of this year, 2009, the OEB has adopted the OPA's updated list of measure and assumptions for the purposes of CDM evaluation?

MR. CURTIS:  I am not aware of that, but that sounds like a reasonable conclusion.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry.  Okay.

Assuming that is the case -- and I can tell you that it's by letter January 27th, 2009 to all licensed electricity distributors.  I can put this on the record.  I didn't think it would be something that was sent to all the utilities, so I didn't think it would be need to be put on the record.  It is just the Board adopting the OPA list for certain purposes.

Assuming that is the case, when we look at the -- the three -- the three reports that are included in the evidence, those obviously have nothing -- sorry.  The OPA assumptions which are now being used for -- by the Board in terms of evaluation on a go-forward basis, weren't included, obviously, in those three reports.

MR. CURTIS:  That is my understanding.  What you see in terms of, say, for example, 2006 is based on what was used in 2006, and not updated or restated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

If we had someone that could fill the time, I would like to go to 4:30 today, because we started later.  Is there anyone who is willing to take on that next 40 minutes?

MR. CROCKER:  Madame Chair, we were going to go next, but Mr. Poch wants to be first --

MS. NOWINA:  Whisper in your ear, actually, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Poch is going to take the time and finish first thing in the morning, and we will follow then.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. CROCKER:  After whispering in my ear.

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine with us.  Mr. Poch, that works for you?

MR. POCH:  I can give it a go.  Some of it wasn't quite ready, but I think I can probably wing it.

Okay.  I have two areas of cross-exam, Madam Chair, one on this sort of distributed generation aspect and one on the CDM aspect.  And I think I can certainly get through the distributed generation aspects now, before I run into problems with my preparation.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Panel, the -- first of all, stepping back a level, can we agree that this -- the distributed generation, certainly the distributed generation aspects of this Green Energy Plan are a major plank of this government's policy in this area, an energy policy at this point?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's, I think, very fair, and obviously they've built on that for other reasons as well.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  So your shareholder is not, in any sense, calling upon you to slow down?  If anything, the opposite?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think our shareholder has written us a letter which is filed in evidence here that says:  Go forward on many things.  Having said that, they do make that subject to the normal approval processes.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  And in terms of the chronologies we heard about, I take it that November 30th, last Monday, was - a week Monday - was the first-round deadline for applications under the FIT process to OPA, and there's going to be periodic subsequent deadlines when they do transmission assessment and give people a yea or nay; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I am having trouble with my -- yes, that's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And, indeed, there was -- they had -- the applicants that met the November 30th deadline had a few days' grace before they had to file their cash deposits with the -- cash or bond deposits with the OPA?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I believe five days afterwards, they have to follow it up.

MR. POCH:  That has just perhaps today come to fruition; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Graham, I think it is okay to leave your mic on.  I think you are going to have a dialogue for a few moments here.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sure.

MR. POCH:  And part of that application process involves the applicants declaring -- is it a connection date; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  And part of that application process is that they put up this deposit and that they will pay a penalty if they are not, in fact, ready to go when -- assuming you and OPA have paved the way for them on that connection date?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  And I should reference I think it is actually referred to as commercial operation date, not connection date.

MR. POCH:  Commercial operation date.  Fair enough.

So is it fair to say, then, that not today, perhaps, because the deposits have just rolled in, but in the next few days, in that kind of time line, we might expect OPA to be able to give us some indication of what, in fact, has been applied for, what the geographic array is, and the connection dates applied for are?  At some level --

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't want to, if you will, steal the OPA's thunder.  I would expect on the applications, yes, some details would be available within the next few days.  That is, again, on the applications.  It would not necessarily be those that get the contracts yet.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  Have you, in fact -- are people in your shop been in touch with the OPA on a regular basis?

MR. GRAHAM:  On an ongoing basis, yes.

MR. POCH:  Is there anything thus far that you have learned that tells you that your estimates are over- or under-estimates?

MR. GRAHAM:  Nothing at this point, no.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Is that simply a lack of information, or what information you are getting tends to confirm?

MR. GRAHAM:  There's been nothing -- we have had some information.  It's preliminary.  It is not final.  It is not verified.  That information does not, at this point, tell us, really, whether the forecast is right, but it doesn't tell us it is wrong.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  If I was to ask you for an undertaking to update that answer and provide what information you could that you have obtained from the OPA prior to the first -- close of -- the finish of the first oral phase of this proceeding - that is, for next Friday - is that something you can give me?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe my understanding from the OPA is that information should be -- the verified applications, if you will, should be available for release some time next week.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  If it is all right with your counsel, I would ask that Hydro One will make best efforts to make available what information it can from the --

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  It comes from the OPA, as I understand it, and certainly if the applicant is able to release the OPA figures, we will.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Do we require an undertaking for that, or is this a publicly available document?

MR. POCH:  I think I would like an undertaking, because I think my experience has been that Hydro One has a lot better opportunity to pull information out of the OPA than the rest of us.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.6, and that is to provide, if any exists, the update from the OPA regarding verified information about the takeup for the FIT program.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED INFORMATION FROM OPA RE TAKEUP FOR THE FIT PROGRAM.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Now, is it fair to say that the nature of the distributed generation that's anticipated under the fee and tariff puts Hydro One in a key  position -- a lot of it is going to be in rural areas, for example?

MR. GRAHAM:  We would certainly expect that, yes.

MR. POCH:  And that as a natural result of that you -- first of all, is my understanding correct that OPA has undertaken to make best efforts to offer contracts to FIT applicants within 60 days of each round, so within 60 days of November 30th in the first round?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, in my understanding, I think 60 days is a target they're shooting for.

MR. POCH:  We all appreciate that is a target.

So is it fair to conclude that Hydro One's ability to analyze and do the physical work to connect is going to be a key either facilitator or bottleneck in this whole process?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And if you were under funded in this regard, that could be a kind of a self-fulfilling prophecy?

MR. GRAHAM:  That is always a potential issue, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, we heard Mr. Warren's cross this morning, and I think I don't do him a disservice to say what he was driving at is he sees a fair amount of uncertainty at this point, whether you agree with that or not, and he was asking you about the potential for a deferral account to recognize that uncertainty and the risks for ratepayers.

I think, if I may - and you correct me if I am wrong - your answer is, and we heard a bit a few moments ago, that the corporation is not thrilled with that prospect, because of the implications for its debt costs, but that your CFO would speak to that question in a subsequent panel; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair.  In addition, I think we have testified a number of times to the information that underlies the forecast.  This is not a number out of the air.  There is significant history and experience going into that number.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  Okay.  And now if this Board were to conclude that the plan, at least the first two years of the plan, on its face appears to be a good one, a prudent one, and if we are -- if we accept for a moment that what you say is correct, that a deferral account might create problems for your treasury, I am wondering what your response would be to -- if the Board were to -- if I am today to propose, if the Board is satisfied and approved the first two years of your plan, but suggested there be a variance account to deal with the uncertainty, would you agree that that would, in a sense, address this concern that your treasury group has and provide Mr. Warren some comfort?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  So now you're talking about technicalities I am not completely -- the variance account, you're talking about assurance of recovery of the costs on an ongoing basis?

MR. POCH:  Yes.  The distinction I am making is a deferral account where you are, in theory, at risk for all of the amount, if the Board subsequently finds it imprudent; whereas a variance account is really the Board is approving the expenditure, but saying if timing or the actual experience is a little different, you either go over or under budget, and the Board can decide if it is a symmetrical account or not, and ranges on that, but you true up later.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, without going too far, I think it might be helpful.  I am not sure it is enough.  I think our CFO would be the right one to ask that question.

MR. POCH:  Perhaps you can take that as notice of a question for your CFO.  I am unlikely to be here, but I will turn to Board Staff and trust that they will have some interest in following up on that.

MR. ROGERS:  I will ask him myself.

MR. POCH:  Good.

[Laughter]

MR. POCH:  Now, you were asked this morning if the Board should be looking at the total dollars in your plan, whether they be rate funded or global adjustment funded, or just the portion of the plan that you are proposing be rate funded.

I believe your answer was the Board should of course look at the total amount; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly the Board I think should be interested in anything that's to be funded by ratepayers, whether directly by Hydro One distribution ratepayers or province-wide ratepayers.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Would that answer apply to the CDM portion of your Green Plan, as well as the distributed generation portion?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would think the Board would have an interest, again, in anything that ratepayers are funding so...

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. GRAHAM:  My understanding is there is a process to be dealing with CDM at some point in time.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Let's turn to CDM.  Madam Chair, in answer to your earlier query about the list, I can provide a little more information, and that is that the CDM evidence in this case that Hydro One has provided is -- they have included as part 5 of their Green Plan.  So that is where they've placed it, at least.

Now, panel, as I understand the situation, you are awaiting the target-setting process that this Board will undertake at some point?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  You are also awaiting OPA plans for the 2010 year and subsequent?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  Is it fair to say that you are, in essence, staying with the status quo while awaiting those two milestones?


MR. CURTIS:  I think it is more than the status quo.  What we're looking at, given the direction coming in from the Green Energy Act, is the expectation that there will be more CDM investment than there has been historically.  So we are looking at a total in excess of what we have been spending historically.

MR. POCH:  All right.  You -- I think you went over with my friend, Mr. Klippenstein, that you don't -- you are seeing a continued ramp-up of Peaksaver, but I think you agreed we're not seeing a kind of major push to capture it, all of everything you can as fast as you can.

MR. CURTIS:  I think in terms of individual programs, we haven't gone into the depth and detail in terms of their future design.

What I was talking about is in aggregate.  There will be more CDM investment.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. CURTIS:  That's what we're expecting.  Than there has been historically.

MR. POCH:  Can you give us any sense of what your expectation is timing-wise for the processes we have spoken of, that is the target setting and the OPA's enunciation of the next round of --

MR. CURTIS:  I am afraid I can't, because my understanding is that the initiating process in that is a directive from the government.

MR. POCH:  So then you are not planning for this 2010, '11 CDM phase at this time?  You are holding -- keeping your powder dry?

MR. CURTIS:  We are continuing on at a strategic level, in terms of future CDM initiatives or effort.  But in terms of any design of any specific program, no, we're not, other than the continuation of the ones that have been there historically.

MR. POCH:  Can you just expand on what you mean by "at a strategic level"?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, in terms of evaluating how we're going to go forward, when we get the directives, what sort of effort is going to have to be put in place, what potentially could be the additional initiatives or potentially being the expansion of existing initiatives.

MR. POCH:  You're not looking at specific initiatives.  You are not planning for particular programs, or the rollout of existing ones, I take it?  You're -- I'm having a little trouble here understanding what the work, what the actual work is at this point, if you can do anything.

MR. CURTIS:  Well, I'm sorry, in terms of that.

There are existing programs.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  And we're -- for example, the OPA core programs, and we are looking at those continuing on.

So in terms of expansion of those programs, for example, we are looking at what that would entail.

MR. POCH:  So I understand you have approximately a million dollars budgeted in rates for 2010?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  CDM-related.  And can you give me a breakdown of what that is -- to what extent is that planning for ramp-ups or rollouts, and to what extent is that just --

MR. CURTIS:  I think that's what we were just talking about in terms of the strategic development or strategic initiatives.

MR. POCH:  Can you give us a sense of the staff, the FTEs assigned on that -- to that?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't think I have that specific number.

MR. POCH:  Can I get an undertaking for that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ROGERS:  Panel 4 is equipped to deal with staffing issues, and I wonder if it can wait until then.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I'll pass that --

MR. ROGERS:  We'd have -- I would just ask them anyway.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Can we just -- I just wanted to touch on the uncertainty associated with the -- with the CDM spending.

First of all, let's back up to a little history here.  I know I have spoken to your colleagues, and I understand that if we -- questions with respect to the possibility of an LRAM would be best left for panel 5, and we will do that.

And I just wanted, though, to get the wisdom of this panel on some of these questions of uncertainty in CDM, as it might influence both the load forecast and the need for a LRAM.

The history here, panel, for your sake, is that I think two cases ago, we raised the question of an LRAM and Hydro One raised a concern that it didn't have a fix on what the CDM impact would be, because there are many players out there, the OPA, the federal government, what have you.

It was -- the Board had asked you to come back with a proposal.  Last year -- last time you came back and explained that there was this difficulty persisting, and the Board understood that.  But I asked you to take a run at that question of what -- understanding what the CDM, the impacts of CDM are from various sources.

And in response to an interrogatory we put in, which is H -- you don't need to turn it up -- H, Exhibit H, tab 2, schedule 3, sub (d), you indicated that a report was forthcoming.

Am I correct that you have now filed that report and it is to be found at Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 2, attachment 1?  That is Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 2, attachment 1, if my notes are right.

MR. ROGERS:  Is that the study that Mr. But did, may I ask, Madam Chair?  If it is, then it is, as Bill Clinton would say.

MR. POCH:  If I had it in front of me, I could tell you.

MR. ROGERS:  I will look it up.

MR. POCH:  This is why I was hoping to stave it off until tomorrow but I think...

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Your counsel has confirmed that.  I take it you adopt his answer of "yes"?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do adopt my counsel's answer.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Never admit that.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Okay.  So I would like to provide for you -- and I will hand this up to the Panel, as well -- a little chart I have prepared, which is simply just a graphic rendition of information that appears in Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 31.

[Mr. Poch passes document to Board Panel Members]

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, this will be Exhibit K1.3, CDM and the load forecast provided by Green Energy Coalition.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  CDM and load forecast provided by Green Energy Coalition.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Poch, has the witness panel had a chance to look at this?

MR. POCH:  I hadn't provided them this, because it is simply information that is already on the record, Madam Chair.  All I have done is taken those four numbers from H-7-31 and put them on a graph, just to facilitate the discussion.

MS. NOWINA:  Are you okay with that, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  They haven't seen it, but just give me a moment to look at it.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  I apologize for not having sent that earlier.  Those numbers appear in, as I have said, H-7-31, page 2, in the -- under the -- in the chart that Hydro One provided to part D, in the -- under "Hydro One retail's annual CDM targeting gigawatt hours"?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Are you okay, Mr. Curtis?  Can you answer some questions now?

MR. CURTIS:  I hope so.

MR. ROGERS:  I do too.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, to be fair, I think you have said that this is the -- the CDM that is in your load forecast -- and we can deal with this with the load forecast folks -- but it is basically just driven by a mechanism.  You have proportionately applied what OPA has said in their IPSP is going to be the plan?

MR. CURTIS:  I believe that's the largest source of that information.

MR. POCH:  So if I want to make fun of anybody, it should be them, not you.  But let me just ask you, though.

Looking at this graphic display, isn't it reasonable to assume that it is quite unlikely that we're going to see that pattern in reality?

MR. CURTIS:  I think that is a reasonable expectation, yes.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Just eyeballing it, I see that CDM increasing by 400 percent, and then dropping by 40 percent.

To understand what the implications of that are, I am wondering if you could just turn up H, tab 2, schedule 3, and look at the answer to item G.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Sorry, I don't have it in front of me, but from my notes, is it correct the sensitivity given to the implication for rate requirement would be about $2 million for every -- is it per gigawatt hour?

MR. CURTIS:  Every 100 gigawatt hours.

MR. POCH:  Every 100 gigawatt hours.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  We can apply that sensitivity to this if we wanted to pick a different number on this graph than what's portrayed there?

MR. CURTIS:  I think as a rule of thumb that would be fair.

MR. POCH:  Okay, that's good enough.

Okay, if I want to -- I take it, then, if we were to talk about the implications of an LRAM, whether it is a good idea or a bad idea in light of this uncertainty, that is panel 5?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Okay, thank you.  That is all of the questions that I have at this time, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

I think, then, we will -- Mr. Rogers?
Procedural Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Maybe before we adjourn, Madam Chair, I just invite people to give to me a list of pages that they would like to refer to in the confidential filings this evening, and then it may be the whole problem will disappear if they do that, if I receive some pages from Mr. Thompson, but no one else.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I would encourage everyone to do that to make things go as smoothly as we can in the morning.

With that discussion, and with my remaining estimates for the cross-examination of this panel, I don't think panel 2 will be able to begin until Thursday.  That's how I am seeing it, Mr. Rogers.  Is that --

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I will try to have panel -- well, actually, I will have panel -- well, I will have half of the panel here tomorrow morning.  Mr. Van Dusen has been shanghaied to serve on that panel, but I can arrange, I think, for Mr. Struthers to come in the afternoon, if necessary.  But thank you very much for that direction.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.

MR. LONG:  Just one more intervention.

Given the information you have, do you have a sense when the various panels might show up, in terms of predicting the unpredictable?

MS. NOWINA:  I am not any better at forecasting than any of our applicants are.  However, from what I can see, I would say panel 2 on Thursday, and it looks like that is a fairly substantive panel so I don't know whether we will complete it in one day.  Does Board Staff have any better -


MR. MILLAR:  We have been attempting to, with the assistance of parties -- and this will be another opportunity to remind parties to give us their time estimates, but the further we go down with the panels, the less time estimates we have.

So we have a decent idea for panel 2.  As Ms. Nowina points out, it will probably be -- I would be surprised if it was less than a day, but we are not sure.

After that, we only have a few estimates for the amount of time people plan to take.  So the short answer is I don't know.

MS. NOWINA:  So get your estimates in to Board Staff and we will be able to tell you more clearly.

With that, we are adjourned until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.  Don't forget it is an earlier start.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:18 p.m.
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